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INTRODUCTION

These results for the year to 31 December 2008 include
those of Sumus Plc (“Sumus”), following the completion
of the merger with Lighthouse Group plc (“Lighthouse”
or “the Group”) on 6 May 2008.  

These results are a creditable performance against a
deteriorating economic background. Trading for the
year commenced well, however, as the economic and
investment environment became more challenging
towards the end of the first half, revenues weakened
and thereafter declined steadily as the year progressed,
mirroring the instability in the broader investment
markets. Although the results for the year at the EBITDA
level (before related non-recurring re-organisation
expenses) are in line with the Board’s expectations,
stated at the time of the Interim Statement released in
September, the subsequent decline in revenues has
resulted in impairments in the carrying values of certain
subsidiary businesses. 

Despite these tougher trading conditions, the Group’s
strong financial position is evidenced by net assets of
approximately £13 million, net of impairment costs and
a prior year charge together totalling some £9 million,
cash balances of approximately £12 million and a
complete absence of bank borrowings and the usual
associated financial covenants.

Subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions, more fully
described below, the Directors of Lighthouse propose
to announce the payment of a dividend of 0.2 pence
per share at the announcement of the Interim results for
the year ending 31 December 2009. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Reported revenues for the year increased by 
approximately £1.5 million to £54.4 million when
compared to 2007. This disguises a marked decline in
revenues for the recently enlarged Group as Sumus
contributed revenues of £15.3 million in the period from
6 May 2008 to 31 December 2008. On a like-for-like
basis therefore, the decline was £16.8 million, equivalent
to 26%. This demonstrates the scale of the decline in
activity levels experienced during the second half of
the year when investment business in particular
dropped sharply. 

As a result of revenues weakening, gross profit declined
to £15.4 million compared to £16.6 million in 2007.
Similarly, on a like-for-like basis, this represents a
decline of £3.2 million in 2008, equivalent to 19% on
the prior year. 

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

TRADING HIGHLIGHTS Year ending 31 December
2008 2007
£m £m

Revenue 54.4 52.9

Gross profit 15.4 16.6
Operating costs 14.9 14.1

EBITDA * 0.5 2.5

Adjustments re depreciation,
amortisation, impairment,
non-recurring costs and net interest 9.0 0.6

(Loss)/profit before taxation (8.5) 1.9

Pence Pence
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (6.98) 2.58

*Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation,
impairment and non-recurring items.

1p of the 1.2p paid in 2008 in respect of dividends related
to the special and final dividends from 2007 announced in
April 2008, leaving an interim dividend of 0.2p as having
been declared and paid in respect of 2008.
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At the EBITDA level (earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, amortisation and non-recurring costs) 
the Group’s results decreased to £553,000 from 
£2.5 million in 2007. 

The non-recurring costs in 2008 of £981,000
represented reorganisation costs arising from the
merger with Sumus and subsequent cost-saving
reviews (2007: £546,000 in respect of the settlement of
legal costs in respect of a former employee claim and
one other potential litigation case).

Net interest received was £362,000 (2007: £355,000)
after deducting £164,000 (2007: £nil) payable on the
trade facility which financed the cash element of the
merger with Sumus.

Net assets at 31 December 2008 stood at £12.8 million
(2007: £12.6 million as restated) of which cash balances
were £12.3 million (2007: £9.0 million). The Group has
always favoured security over marginally enhanced
interest rates, and hence cash deposits are held in a
small number of the major UK banks. The net assets at
31 December 2008 are after impairment charges in
relation to goodwill and intangible assets of £7.6 million
(2007: £nil).

The Group has a five year trading facility of £4.5 million
(2007: £nil), which was provided by LV= to fund the
partial cash alternative aspect of the merger with
Sumus. This facility is repayable in semi-annual
instalments between 2010 and 2012, principally out of
future recurring income derived from the LV= 
transaction completed in 2007. The facility has no
financial performance covenants.   

MERGER WITH SUMUS

This merger brought together the two largest AIM
quoted autonomous IFA and wealth management
groups, to create the largest such entity in the UK, with
some 850 advisers providing nationwide coverage
through a number of IFA brands. Both Lighthouse and
Sumus have a track record of profitability, liquid
balance sheets with no bank debt, and good regulatory
histories over a lengthy period. 

The merged Group has drawn directors and employees
from both former entities, and the new management
team has combined very effectively. A number of
functions have been fully integrated, including financial
reporting, IT, HR and executive reporting structures.
Other operating procedures and policies are also being
reviewed to develop and maintain best practice across
the Group. 

A financial benefit of these actions has been the early
attainment of the previously announced target of 
£1 million of annualised post-merger cost savings.
During the second half of the year, management
worked to match the decline in revenues with further
cost savings, resulting in additional cost reviews, and
total savings of £2.5 million have since been achieved.
The bulk of the resulting financial benefits will accrue
during 2009.

RECURRING REVENUES

The Group continues to focus on growing the 
proportion of recurring revenues. This is in line with the
Group’s core philosophy of developing long-term
relationships with its clients and is invariably linked to
providing on-going advice for them. The focus is also
beneficial to advisers and the Group as it improves
visibility of earnings for both.

I am therefore pleased to report a significant rise in
recurring income to £15.3 million for the year, compared
with £10.5 million in 2007, an increase of 45%. This
includes an increase of £1.2 million (or 12%) in the pre-
merger business of the Group and a first time 
contribution of £3.6 million from Sumus.

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT

The financial statements include a prior year adjustment
of £1.5 million which arose as a result of misstatements
in the accounting for the trading of Carrwood Barker
Holdings Limited following its acquisition by the Group
in December 2005. The misstatements arose prior to
and during the migration of its customer and 
commissions data in August 2006 onto a new 
commissions system operated by the Group.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
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The misstatements were of a one-off and non-recurring
nature and impacted only reported results prior to 
1 January 2007. The net effect was to overstate the
cumulative retained earnings and total equity attributable
to the equity holders of the Group by £1,468,364 as at 
1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007 and to overstate
trade and other receivables and total assets by £161,159
and to understate trade and other payables and total
liabilities by £1,307,205 as at those dates.  

There was no effect on the Group’s previously reported
cash flows, originally or subsequently, nor on the
financial results of the Group for 2007 or 2008.  

All of the financial reporting processes relating to
income collection and related payments have been
reviewed to ensure that the enhanced reconciliation
procedures are sufficient to prevent recurrence of such
issues in future. 

RETAIL DISTRIBUTION
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAMME

This was set up as the Retail Distribution Review
(“RDR”) by H.M. Treasury and the Financial Services
Authority (“FSA”) was charged with taking it forward.
The aim of the RDR is to ensure that consumers have
sufficient confidence in the retail financial market to
want to use its products and services more often.
Following industry consultation, the FSA has now
commenced the move towards implementation of its
current proposals. 

The proposals deal with a number of areas which will,
in time, affect IFAs. Amongst these is improved
transparency of customer charging at both the
manufacturing and advice stages of retail financial
products and, potentially, the way in which charges are
set. In addition, many IFAs will be required to increase
further their professional qualifications through
additional examinations and continuing professional
education. 

While there is little in the proposals which should cause
concerns in principle, the implementation timetables will
be critical. 

Significant changes in IFA qualification levels, in a
relatively short timeframe, may disadvantage many
experienced advisers, and by extension, consumers, if
the result is fewer advisers and higher costs of advice.
Moreover, changes in IFA remuneration mechanisms will
require significant changes in manufacturer and advisers’
systems. It is to be hoped that sufficient time will be
allowed to ensure that the retail financial services industry
is not forced into substantial re-engineering while the
current recession persists.

DIVIDENDS

The Group continues to place significant importance on
the payment of dividends. However, as a result of the
impairment charges referred to earlier, there are currently
insufficient retained earnings to recommend a final
dividend for 2008. Accordingly, the Group intends to
reclassify the balance on the share premium account and
merger reserve, amounting to £8.5 million in aggregate,
as distributable reserves. This procedure was successfully
used in the past by the Group and will commence
formally, assuming that the relevant resolutions are
passed by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.
Thereafter application will be made to the Courts.

Subject to the satisfactory conclusions of the 
arrangements referred to above, and of the sufficiency
of the Group’s profits at that time, it is the Boards’
intention to resume dividend payments by declaring an
Interim dividend of 0.2 pence per share, which it expects
will be paid to shareholders in September or October
2009. Record and payment dates will be confirmed after
the Court procedures have been satisfactorily completed.

LIGHTHOUSE GP

Formerly known as Godfrey Pearson, this business was
brought into the Group on 12 January 2009. It has
approximately 50 advisers and is focused on providing
advice typically to professionals such as veterinary
surgeons, teachers, doctors and dentists. The business
is trading broadly in line with expectations and has
been satisfactorily integrated. This transaction now
brings the number of IFAs within the Group who work
on the basis of exclusive affinity relationships with
various professions, trade unions, and other 
associations, to nearly 300.

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
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Given the attractions of new business leads, professional
clients, and the recurring revenues typically associated
with affinity arrangements, the Group is keen to continue
to grow its proportion of such activities.

FINANCIAL STRENGTH

Lighthouse’s financial strength sets the Group apart
from others in the sector. National IFA and network
groups have often been thinly capitalised, or heavily
dependent on bank debt. During cyclical downturns the
pressures of reduced profits and cash flows, together
with the serious dangers of breaching banking
covenants and regulatory capital thresholds, have
together threatened the existence of many such firms
to the detriment of advisers, clients and shareholders. 

By contrast Lighthouse always strives to husband its
cash resources, avoid bank debt, and where transactions
are contemplated, to concentrate only on those which
are earnings enhancing and do not reduce Group cash
levels or profits. This makes the Group a secure home
for advisers.

With net assets of approximately £13 million, current cash
balances of approximately £12 million and no bank debt,
the Board believes that the Group is amongst the
strongest autonomous IFA groups in the UK.

OUTLOOK

The current volatility and dislocation seen in the
financial markets has combined to create considerable
uncertainty for investment business. In addition, fear of
redundancy has delayed the increase in the savings
ratio usually associated with recessions. Despite
negligible returns, people continue to prioritise liquidity
over investment. The collapse in mortgage availability
for residential property transactions has severely
reduced the number of mortgage transactions and
associated protection products. 

While retirement related advice remains strong, most
other IFA income has reduced noticeably during the past
three quarters, and there is little sign of any significant
reversal in the short term. Accordingly, while the Group
expects to continue trading profitably, it does not expect
to see any significant growth in revenues per adviser
during 2009. Increased emphasis has therefore been
placed on the selective recruitment of additional advisers,
and results so far this year are encouraging.

In the meantime the Group continues to trade profitably
and its operations continue to generate surplus cash.
Since the year end it has traded in line with expectations.

Finally, I would like to express my thanks to our
independent financial advisers in each of our divisions
for their professionalism and loyalty to the Group, and
to all my fellow employees and directors, for their
contributions during the year. 

David Hickey
Executive Chairman
6 April 2009

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
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The second half of the year to December 2008 was one
of the most challenging periods for many decades.
Despite the increasingly adverse conditions in global
and national economies, large declines in the indices of
all stock markets, residential and commercial property
values falling substantially during the year and the
unfolding banking crisis, we succeeded in maintaining
our profit record at the EBITDA level and before the
impact of impairment reviews.

This was achieved predominantly through the merger 
with Sumus in May, resulting in the enlarged business
becoming the largest AIM-listed autonomous IFA and
wealth management group in the UK. 

Whilst on the face of it, our total revenues have
increased, the severity of the financial environment
encountered since the merger has resulted in
revenues declining on a like-for-like basis by 26%
against the previous year, as described more fully in
the Chairman’s Statement. Few businesses can
withstand a reduction in revenues of that scale and
remain profitable, so we are pleased to report that the
Group results for the year amounted to £553,000 at
EBITDA level (2007: £2,546,000). 

We have taken timely and effective action to reduce
costs whilst maintaining service standards and have
continued to expand the Group in a considered
manner. The Group now operates from seven principal
locations, with offices in the City of London, Exeter,
Brighton, Manchester, Bristol, Dunfermline and Leeds,
giving us geographic reach across the UK. Our
advisers are further spread and operate from locations
in all parts of the country, ensuring clients are well
served wherever they live or work. 

The Group operates through four FSA regulated
divisions: LighthouseXpress, Falcon Group Plc,
LighthouseFSAS and our pension administration
business City Trustees. We aim for organic growth in all
our operating businesses and also seek selective
expansion opportunities.

The combined Group now represents over 850 IFAs,
equating to about 3% of the IFA profession in the UK
and serves the financial needs of approaching half a
million private clients, together with a number of affinities,

large employer groups, SMEs and professional practices.
People need and are seeking advice and the Group is
pleased to provide independent financial advice to a
significant number of clients. We expect that interest
rates, which are now at record low levels, will drive a
return to investment in real assets, once equity markets
become more settled.

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY

The results of the Group for the year ended 
31 December are set out in the Income Statement on
page 25 and can be summarised as follows.

Detailed commentary by division is set out in the
section “Divisional Trading Performance” set out below
but the following comments arise on the overall
financial performance of the Group for 2008.

REVENUE

Revenue increased by £1.45 million or 2.7% over the
level achieved in 2007 but this is after the inclusion
since 6 May 2008 of revenues from the Sumus
businesses acquired by way of the merger on that date.
These businesses contributed £15.3 million of revenue
since the merger became effective and consequently
the pre-merger businesses of the Group saw revenue
fall from £52.9 million to £38.9 million – a decrease of
26% over 2007 levels.

7

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

JOINT CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ REVIEW

2008 2007

Revenue (£’000) 54,393 52,941
Gross profit (£’000) 15,435 16,623
Gross profit percentage (%) 28.4% 31.4%
EBITDA (£’000) 553 2,456
Non-recurring costs (£'000) 981 546
Impairment charge on goodwill
and intangibles (£’000) 7,572 -
Depreciation and amortisation (£’000) 856 368
Operating (loss)/profit (£’000) (8,857) 1,542
Net finance income (£’000) 363 355
Pre-tax (loss)/profit (£’000) (8,494) 1,897
Average number of advisers 749 559
Average revenue per adviser (£) 72,600 94,700
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This effective reduction in activity levels reflects the
significant downturn in economic activity both in the UK
and in global markets in the second half of 2008 which
had a marked adverse impact on the market for the
distribution of retail financial products in the UK in
which the Group operates.

As a result of the economic downturn average revenue
production per adviser reduced by 23% from £94,700
to £72,600. 

GROSS MARGINS

Gross profits decreased in absolute terms by £1.2 million
and by three percentage points from 31.4% to 28.4%, the
latter reflecting the lower margins within the Sumus
businesses (with a greater proportion of network
revenues) in comparison with the pre-merger businesses
of the Group. The reduction in absolute gross profit also
reflects the downturn in economic activity within the
Group’s principal market as noted above.

OPERATING COSTS
(excluding non-recurring costs)

Group operating costs excluding non-recurring costs
increased by £715,000 to £14.9 million in comparison
with 2007 but this is after the inclusion of eight
months’ costs for the Sumus businesses. Operating
costs in the pre-merger businesses decreased by 
£0.9 million or 6% reflecting the impact of the cost
reductions achieved since the merger, the full benefit
of which will accrue in 2009.

EBITDA (before non-recurring costs)

EBITDA reduced from £2.46 million in 2007 to £553,000
in 2008, reflecting the reduced gross margins arising as
noted above. The cost saving initiatives referred to
above contributed towards the achievement of a
positive EBITDA result for the year.

NON-RECURRING COSTS

Non-recurring costs in 2008 comprised restructuring
costs incurred during the year that have subsequently
resulted in ongoing savings in operational costs. This
includes costs identified at the time of, or subsequent
to, the merger with Sumus Limited. The costs in 2007
comprised the cost of settling legal costs in respect of
a claim by a former employee of the Group, together
with a potential litigation case against the trustee of the
Group's Employee Benefit Trust. 

IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

In common with many businesses the Group had incurred
a significant charge to profits as a result of impairment
reviews undertaken in respect of the carrying values of
the goodwill and intangible assets of the Group.

Under International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) such reviews are undertaken by comparing the
carrying value of the respective Cash Generating Units
(CGUs) to the higher of the value in use and the “fair
value less costs to sell”. The directors have determined
that the value in use of each relevant CGU is higher
than the “fair value less costs to sell”. The value in use
has been calculated in each case by discounting the
estimated future post-tax cash flows by an appropriate
post-tax discount rate.

The two CGUs identified by the directors are the
business of the Group pre-merger and the businesses
introduced to the Group by the merger with Sumus in
May 2008. Whilst the discount rate for the year end
impairment review has been set at a marginally higher
rate (10.8%) than that previously employed (to reflect
the higher risk perceived by the directors in the current
economic climate) the most important factor is the
reduction in the estimated future post-tax cash flows as a
result of the significant and sustained downturn in the UK
economy in general and the market for retail financial
products in particular.

JOINT CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ REVIEW (continued)
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The goodwill identified at the time of the merger (being
£3.2 million) represented the intangible assets that
could not be individually separated and reliably
measured due to their nature and reflected the strategic
importance of broadening the Group’s business
offerings and the value attributed to the brands, the
management and workforce so acquired. The value
attributed to goodwill arose as a result of the excess of
the fair value of the consideration paid over the fair
value of the separately identifiable assets acquired
(including intangible assets).

In the light of the accounting framework imposed by
IFRSs (in accordance with which the Group prepares its
consolidated financial statements) and the economic
downturn experienced since mid-2008, the impairment
charge arising in respect of the goodwill and intangible
assets acquired by way of the merger (£11.5 million net
of amortisation charge in the year) was assessed at
£5.6 million, of which £3.2 million was allocated to
goodwill leaving £2.4 million to be allocated against the
intangible assets identified at the time of the merger.

In addition to the above, an impairment review of 
£2 million was assessed on the carrying value of
goodwill as at the start of the financial year, resulting in
a total charge to profits in respect of impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets of £7.6 million.

The directors consider that the total impairment charge
has arisen primarily as a result of the current turmoil in
the UK economy and that in the absence of a further
substantial decline in economic activity within the 
UK economy, the total impairment provisions as at 
31 December 2008 should prove to be conservative.

OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT AND
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group recorded an operating loss of £8.9 million
(2007: profit of £1.5 million) and a loss before tax of
£8.5 million (2007: profit of £1.9 million) in the year
ended 31 December 2008, principally as a result of the
significant impairment charges detailed above.

NET ASSETS AND TOTAL EQUITY

The Group's net assets increased by £124,000 to 
£12.7 million in comparison with the £12.6 million in
2007 (as restated for the prior year adjustment - see
page 10) with the issue of shares in respect of the
merger with Sumus (£8.8 million net of costs) being
offset by the impairment charges of £7.6 million and the
dividends of £1.1 million paid to equity shareholders
during the year.

CASH FLOW AND BALANCES

Cash at bank increased by £3.3 million to £12.3 million
with the cash outlay at the time of the merger 
(£3.8 million including expenses charged to merger
reserve) being offset by the trading facility of 
£4.5 million received from LV= during the year (see note
17) and the net cash balance of £5 million acquired
through the merger with Sumus in May 2008. The net
cash outflow from operations was £1.6 million
(2007: inflow of £1.1 million) as a result of the costs
paid in respect of the non-recurring reorganisation
costs referred to in note 5.

The Company also paid its inaugural dividends as a
public company during the year which amounted to
£1.1 million (2007: £nil).

TREASURY

The Group has £12.3 million cash at bank and no
external bank debt. In recent years the Group has
employed a policy of placing such funds on relatively
short-term deposits (typically three months) with UK
financial institutions.

Following the difficulties experienced in UK and global
banking sectors since the middle of 2008, the Group
has tightened up its treasury and cash funds are now
placed with UK clearing banks, with the exception of 
£1 million held at a UK subsidiary of an Australian bank,
and all deposits are of seven days’ duration or less.

The terms of the trade facility from LV= are such that
repayments will not commence until May 2010 with
twice yearly instalments of £900,000 being due
thereafter until the facility is finally repaid in May 2012.  

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

JOINT CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ REVIEW (continued)
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The facility is secured on the monies held in a
nominated bank account, the balance on which at 
31 December 2008 was £nil and there were no financial
or other covenants attaching to this facility. The interest
rate on this facility is 1% over LIBOR.

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT

As detailed in the Chairman's Statement and in note 23
to the financial statements, a prior year adjustment of
£1.5 million was identified during the year which arose as
a result of misstatements in the accounting for the trading
of Carrwood Barker Holdings Limited following its
acquisition by the Group in December 2005. The
misstatements arose prior to and during the migration of
its customer and commissions data in August 2006 onto
a new commissions system operated by the Group. 

The misstatements were of a one-off and non-recurring
nature and impacted only on reported results for periods
prior to 1 January 2007. The net effect was to overstate
the retained earnings and total equity attributable to the
equity holders of the Group by £1.5 million as at 
1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007 and to overstate
trade and other receivable and total assets by £161,000
and understate trade and other payables and total
liabilities by £1.3 million as at those dates. There was
no effect on the Group’s previously reported cash flows.

All of the financial reporting processes relating to
income collection and related payments have been
reviewed to ensure that the enhanced reconciliation
procedures now in place are sufficient to prevent
recurrence of such issues in future.

DIVISIONAL TRADING PERFORMANCES

LighthouseCarrwood

LighthouseCarrwood is the Group’s professional
salaried adviser division: 22 salaried advisers and
managers operate within a number of accountancy
firms. A further five salaried advisers trade within
Lighthouse Group Employee Benefits, which previously
operated as part of LighthouseCarrwood.
LighthouseCarrwood turnover in 2008 was £3.7 million
(2007: £4.8 million) on a like-for-like basis excluding
contribution from Lighthouse Group Employee Benefits. 

Average annualised turnover per adviser was £168,000
(2007: £193,000). A further four accountancy 
associations were added to LighthouseCarrwood in
2008 with one defection.

Lighthouse Group Employee Benefits

This division has completed its first year as a stand-
alone operation, supporting advisers and their clients
from across the Group in developing and progressing
group business. Group Employee Benefits administers
directly 664 schemes, including group personal
pensions, group critical illness, group death-in-service
and income protection, generating £735,000 direct
revenue for the division.

Falcon Group Plc

Falcon Group was founded in 1983 and has 121 advisers,
including directly registered advisers and Appointed
Representative businesses. They mainly specialise in
advising high net worth clients on investments, pensions
and associated tax planning. Falcon Group provides a
range of services, including regulatory cover, risk
management, professional indemnity insurance, research,
training, business development and revenue collection. In
the year to 31 December 2008 turnover amounted to
£10.6 million (2007: £14.4 million), with adviser turnover
averaging £79,500 (2007: £99,000). Falcon Group was
the founding business within Sumus Plc. 

LighthouseTemple

LighthouseTemple has full UK geographical representation,
with the Group owning the trading brand and all
income deriving therefrom. At 31 December 2008, this
division had 189 self-employed registered advisers.
The Group’s Brighton office provides a UK-wide
support function for LighthouseTemple, including a
customer call centre and an advisory service for the
provision of new business leads and related diary
management. During 2008 this office has arranged over
8,000 appointments for advisers and organised some
370 seminars and technical surgeries. 

Turnover for the year was £10.7 million (2007: £11 million)
of which £3.6 million is attributable to affinity and staff
association work flowing from the LV= arrangements
previously reported. Average turnover per adviser was
£56,000 (2007: £66,500).

JOINT CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ REVIEW (continued)
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LighthouseXpress (inclusive of Lighthouse
Wealth and Lighthouse practices)

LighthouseXpress is a Group network division. At the
end of 2008 there were 265 advisers operating within
170 Appointed Representative firms under their own
brands as sole traders, partnerships and limited
companies. 

LighthouseXpress provides a range of services,
including regulatory cover, risk management, research,
professional indemnity insurance and collects all
income due on behalf of its member firms.

For 2008, turnover was £20.2 million (2007: £28 million)
with adviser turnover averaging £67,500
(2007: £88,500). A majority of the Group’s mortgage
advisers are regulated within LighthouseXpress, and
many have been particularly affected by the downturn
in the UK mortgage market.

LighthouseFSAS

Financial Services Advice and Support (“FSAS”) is the
largest IFA network in Scotland and differentiates its
service offering to Appointed Representatives by
enabling firms to be paid directly by the provider
groups. FSAS was founded in 2001 and has grown
quickly. At the end of 2008 there were 181 advisers
within 65 firms linked to FSAS. Turnover in 2008 was
£14.3 million (2007: £15.5 million). 

City Pensions

Through City Pensions, the Group manages some
1,200 SIPP and SSAS arrangements with aggregated
assets of circa £300 million. 

LighthouseGP

There are 49 advisers within LighthouseGP, which was
previously known as Godfrey Pearson IFA. Operating
principally from Leeds, LighthouseGP specialises in
providing financial and mortgage advice to doctors,
dentists, veterinary surgeons, teachers, accountants and
solicitors, through regular seminars in their places of
work. This business joined the Group in January 2009.

ADVISERS, LOCATIONS & STAFF

In aggregate, the number of advisers throughout the
Group at the end of the 2008 was 830 (2007: 539) and
the average number for the year was 749. This increase
was primarily due to the merger with Sumus which
added the substantive regulated businesses of Falcon
Group and FSAS. 

Since the year end and as at 28 February 2009, the
number of advisers had grown to 857. The Group’s cost
base has been reduced by £1 million reflecting the
merger savings identified and implemented in the
second half of the year. Further cost reductions of
some £1.5 million have now been completed, the full
benefit of which will reflect in the current year.

The group employs 219 staff of which 39 are salaried
advisers working within LighthouseCarrwood, Group
Employee Benefits and LighthouseGP.

TCF

The FSA’s Treating Customers Fairly (“TCF”) initiative,
together with the more wide-ranging Retail Distribution
Implementation Programme (“RDIP”) are both aimed at
increasing standards among intermediaries and others
active in the retail financial services sector.

The Group is entirely supportive of the aims of both
programmes, which are consistent with its own strategic
goals and core values: increasing recurring revenues,
long-term client relationships, and the provision of
ongoing advice to clients. However it believes it essential
that realistic timeframes are allowed both for RDIP
preparatory work and to avoid unnecessary financial
strain caused by fundamental change at an adverse
point in the cycle. The Group’s culture reflects TCF
principles at all levels and throughout its business
processes, and leaves it well positioned to meet the
future challenges posed by the RDIP.

The FSA set the industry-specific TCF targets to be
achieved during 2008. The Group met these targets
throughout its operations, and the post-merger 
harmonisation of processes across the Group has
allowed the further dissemination of best practice
across all divisions. 

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008
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It will continue to evolve its processes to drive
increasing standards to meet its own strategic
objectives as well as addressing RDIP-driven changes.

OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

LighthouseCapital 

This initiative was originally launched in late 2007,
initially with F&C. Since then we have broadened the
offering to include a range of risk-graded funds
managed by LV= Asset Management and Seven
Investment Management, not by the Group, with
Premier Asset Management and Principal Investment
Management offering a full discretionary asset 
management service. The risk assessment process
used to access these funds further professionalises our
advisers’ approach and enhances the choices available
to clients. Funds invested via LighthouseCapital have
recently passed the £40 million mark and we are
encouraged by the gradual level of uptake among
advisers and clients. 

Lighthouse Leadership Pathway Programme 

We have established the Lighthouse Leadership
Pathway Programme (LLPP) to develop the skills of
managers across the Group. 

All people managers successfully completed the LLPP
with the majority subsequently choosing to continue their
personal development and achieving a professional
qualification through the Institute of Leadership and
Management (ILM) level three diploma. The pass rate was
100% and many have chosen to carry onto level five
during the forthcoming year.

The Board recognises the benefits to the business of
the programme and is committed to the development
of leadership skills. For 2009 it has agreed to sponsor
new entrants through the ILM level three and those who
want to progress to ILM level five.

The Group continues to progress towards the Investors
In People (IIP) national standard and will include the
integration of new groups of employees and locations
that have come about as a result of our merger and
acquisition activity during the last twelve months. 

We are represented on the National Skills Academy for
Financial Services.

THE FUTURE

As our relationships with major UK affinity groups (unions
and staff associations) continue to prosper we are seeing
an increasing demand for seminars and counselling
covering redundancy and pre-retirement advice.

The many thousands of clients we engage with each
month are seeking from us quality advice and guidance
through these unprecedented economic times. We are
well positioned to advise clients on their re-engagement
with investments, pensions, protection and mortgages
as conditions normalise again, as we believe they will
over the coming months.

The Group is seeing an increasing number of IFA
groups and individuals looking to align themselves to a
trusted, financially sound, dependable and robust host
organisation. Lighthouse is extremely well positioned to
continue to provide high quality services. This is
increasingly vital in light of the current demanding
economic conditions and the forthcoming changes
deriving from the FSA’s Retail Distribution Review.

We have developed a range of opportunities for advisers
across the Group and have recently launched, as part of
our Strategic Partner Programme, a new format of
business development days, investment seminars and
training leading to advanced financial services 
qualifications. We intend to be at the leading edge of
service provision to IFAs and clients and aim to build a
business that all involved can take pride in and that
advisers and clients can be satisfied will serve them well. 

The Group is financially strong, we have excellent
people and we are focused on sustained success and
growth. Despite the last year having been incredibly
challenging for the global and UK economy as a whole,
we are prepared for better times to come and will
continue to expand the Group responsibly and
profitably for the benefit of all our stakeholders.

Allan Rosengren and Malcolm Streatfield 

Joint Chief Executives

6 April 2009 
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REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their annual report and financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2008. 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s earnings before depreciation, amortisation,
non recurring items, interest and tax were £553,261
(2007: £2,456,432).

After an impairment charge of £7,572,318 arising on the
goodwill and intangible assets acquired as part of the
merger with Sumus Limited together with the goodwill
held on the opening Group balance sheet as at 
1 January 2008, non-recurring re-organisational costs
of £981,165 (2007: £546,335 other exceptional costs),
depreciation, amortisation and net interest, the loss for
the year after taxation was £7,773,017 (2007: profit
£1,897,012). Further commentary on the results for the
year and the financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2008 are contained within the Chairman’s
Statement and Joint Chief Executives’ Review set out
on pages 3 to 6 and 7 to 12 respectively.

Dividends are recognised in the accounts in the year in
which they are paid or, in the case of a final dividend,
when approved by shareholders. An interim dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2008 of
£255,400 (0.2p per share) was paid in October 2008 as
the only dividend for the year. Together with the special
and final dividends for 2007 of £418,594 each (0.5p
each per share) paid in May 2008, this amounts to a
total dividend in 2008 of £1,092,588 (1.2p per share -
2007: £nil). As a result of the impairment charges
included within the Income Statement of the Group and
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Company does not have sufficient retained earnings out
of which to declare and pay a final dividend for that year.

The Directors consider payments of dividends to be an
appropriate policy over the medium to long term and,
subject to the shareholders passing the necessary
resolution at the Annual General Meeting on 3 June
2009, it is the intention of the Company to apply to
Court for permission to reclassify the balances on the
share premium account and merger reserve, which
stood at an aggregate of some £8,996,784 as at 
31 December 2008, as distributable reserves. 

Appropriate resolutions to obtain shareholder approval
for these separate but parallel legal processes will be
put to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On the assumption that the necessary shareholder
resolution is passed at the Annual General Meeting and
that Court approval is obtained, the Directors intend to
resume the policy of dividend payment once the 
resolution and approval have been passed and
obtained respectively and subject also to the
sufficiency of the Company’s profits at that time.  

INCREASES IN AUTHORISED AND
ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised share capital of the Company was
increased on 14 April 2008 to 200,000,000 ordinary
shares of 1p each by the creation of 80,000,000 new
ordinary shares of 1p each.

On 6 May 2008 43,960,446 new ordinary shares of 1p
each were issued, fully paid, in part satisfaction of the
consideration payable for the acquisition, by way of a
merger, of Sumus Limited. In addition, during the year
102,014 new ordinary shares of 1p each were issued
at par, for cash, pursuant to the exercise of certain
share options.

Further details of the movements in the authorised and
issued share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 20.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Group for the year was the
provision of regulatory authorisation and related
assistance to Independent Financial Advisers operating
from locations across the UK. Other activities include
the provision of business services and administration of
pension schemes. This is delivered through the Group’s
main divisions:
• LighthouseCarrwood, a wealth management group

with employed advisers;
• LighthouseTemple, a national adviser group with

self-employed advisers;
• LighthouseWealth, wealth management self-

employed advisers targeting more sophisticated
investors; 
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• LighthouseXpress, wealth management self-
employed advisers;

• Lighthouse Group Employee Benefits, specialising in
corporate benefits; and

• City Trustees, administering SIPPs and SSAS
pension schemes.

On 6 May 2008 the Group acquired by way of a merger
the entire issued share capital of Sumus Limited which
brought the following principal trading companies into
the enlarged group:
• The Falcon Group Plc, a provider of financial

advisory and IFA network services;
• Financial Services and Support Ltd, a provider of

financial advisory and IFA network services; and 
• Deverill Black & Company Limited (50.1% owned by

Sumus Limited), a financial advisory firm and
Appointed Representative of Falcon Plc. 

Lighthouse Group plc is a public limited company
incorporated in England and Wales.

REVIEW OF BUSINESS

The Group Income Statement for the year is set out on
page 25. 

Detailed commentary on the group’s trading during the
year is included within the Chairman’s Statement and
Joint Chief Executives’ Review set out on pages 3 to 6
and 7 to 12 respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are broadly grouped as competitive and business,
regulatory, and financial. 

Competitive and business risks

These comprise:
• adverse changes in the general economic 

environment and, more specifically, in the market for
the provision of retail financial services to UK
consumers within which the Group operates;

• movements in the UK retail financial products
market place away from the “whole of market”
solutions offered by the Group towards a more

restricted tied or multi-tied distribution model;
• movements in the UK retail financial products market

place away from an up-front commission basis of
remuneration for IFAs to models based more on
Customer Agreed Charging or some other basis more
transparent than those currently in vogue;

• the increasing use of technology which could enable
UK consumers to procure retail financial products
direct from the manufacturer at “wholesale” prices
(commonly called factory gate pricing);

• aggressive price competition from other providers of
IFA network or aggregated term services;

• increases in the scale of regulation imposed by UK
and European governments; and

• inflationary impacts on the operating cost base of
the Group.

In order to mitigate the above risks the Group maintains
a close and regular scrutiny of the markets in which it
operates and senior managers meet regularly to review
such issues and determine appropriate responses.
Senior managers also co-operate with and participate
in a variety of industry and regulatory focus groups,
trade associations and regulatory forums in order to
input into the decision-making process and learn more
about current market developments.

The Group is reliant on recruiting and retaining quality
financial advisers. This is done in a variety of ways,
both financial and qualitative, and managers strives to
balance all aspects to ensure that the offerings from the
Group are attractive to new and existing advisers whilst
resisting pressure to erode margins.

The Group’s income is directly aligned to the external
market conditions. Lower market returns reduce
investors’ appetite for investment products, and reduce
the income derived from funds-based products. Senior
managers of the Group review market developments
and key performance indicators such as adviser
production and spread of business by type on a regular
basis to identify any such trends as quickly as possible
and take appropriate mitigating action.

Regulatory risks

The provision of financial advice is regulated by the
Financial Services Authority (FSA). From 6 April 2007
the administration of personal pension schemes
became regulated by the FSA.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
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REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

The Group has always sought to instil a compliant
culture within its procedures so as to govern both the
activity of its employees and self-employed advisers
ensuring that behaviour is in line with best practice, and
should be capable of being justified with hindsight. The
conscious development of this culture has resulted in
the Group never having suffered significant criticism or
any sanction by any regulating authority since its
foundation over 15 years ago, as indeed is the case
with the companies owned by Sumus Limited, with
which the Group merged in May 2008, over its
operating history, ranging from seven to 25 years.

Financial risks

Credit risks exist where a small number of advisers
have a financial obligation to the Group, normally
arising from clawback of commission from product
providers for subsequent policy cancellations and mid-
term adjustments. The Group mitigates this risk by a
range of measures including the retention (where
appropriate) of a proportion of funds from advisers to
cover potential clawbacks. Credit risks in respect of
product providers are considered to be minimal,
notwithstanding the recent turmoil in UK and global
financial markets

Liquidity and cash flow risk is the risk that an entity will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk
by ensuring that commissions payable to advisers are
not remitted until funds have been received by the
Group, and by monthly treasury management where
projected cashflow requirements are monitored and
reviewed. In addition, the Group maintains sufficient
working capital to ensure that its requirements are met
on a day-to-day basis.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

LighthouseCapital will continue to be developed,
leading to the Group and its advisers significantly
increasing their joint influence over client investments.
The resulting boost in recurring revenues will increase
the value of IFAs’ own businesses, and in parallel will
reinforce the financial strength of the Group. This
strategy also accords with the tenor of the FSA’s Retail
Distribution Review.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the period, the Group donated £5,571 to
charitable organisations (2007: £nil) including amounts
raised in charitable activities at conferences.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disabled persons are
given full and fair consideration for all vacancies in
accordance with their particular aptitudes and abilities.
In the event of employees becoming disabled, every
effort is made to retrain them in order that their 
employment with the Group may continue. It is the
policy of the Group that training, career development
and promotion opportunities should be made available
to all employees.

EMPLOYEES

Details of the number of employees and their related
costs are set out in note 4 to the Financial Statements
and, in the case of the directors of the Company, within
this report and the Directors’ Remuneration Report set
out on pages 19 to 22. The Group keeps its employees
informed of matters affecting them through regular
briefings throughout the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company who held office
throughout the year, except where otherwise stated,
were as follows: 

D Hickey
A Rosengren Appointed 6 May 2008
M Streatfield
P Smith Appointed 6 May 2008
R Last
A Scott-Barrett Appointed 11 June 2008
P Grigg Resigned 23 January 2009 
A Snowball Appointed 6 May 2008 and 

resigned 12 August 2008
J Stevenson Resigned 3 May 2008
P Whitehead Retired 6 May 2008

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, 
M Streatfield retires from office at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and will offer himself for 
re-election. A Rosengren, P Smith and A Scott-Barrett
were appointed to the Board during the year and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

Information in respect of directors’ interests is
disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration report on
pages 19 to 22.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 27 February 2009 the Company had been
notified, in accordance with Sections 198 to 209 of the
Companies Act 1985, of the following interests in the
ordinary share capital of the Company:

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY

The Group’s policy is to settle terms of payment with
suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction,
to ensure that suppliers are made aware of the terms of
payment by inclusion of the relevant terms in contracts
and abide by the terms of payment. On average, the
Group’s trade creditors at 31 December 2008
represented 35 days' purchases (2007: 19 days’
purchases). The Company’s creditor payment period
was nil days (2007: nil days) since the Company had no
trading activities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s financial instruments comprise available-
for-sale financial instruments, cash, receivables and
payables. The most significant treasury exposures
faced by the Group are raising finance, managing
interest rate positions and investing surplus cash in
high quality assets. Clear parameters have been
established, including levels of authority, on the type
and use of financial instruments to manage these
exposures, which at present exclude the use of any
derivatives or hedges. Transactions are only undertaken
if they relate to underlying exposures and cannot be
viewed as speculative. Regular reports are provided to
senior management in respect of treasury operations
and are subject to periodic independent reviews by the
Board which include a consideration of the use of
derivatives and hedges. 

GOING CONCERN 

The Group’s business activities, together with the
factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Joint Chief Executives’ Review. The
financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity
position and borrowing facilities are described in the
Group Income Statement, the Group Balance Sheet
and the Group Cash Flow Statement on pages 25, 28
and 29 respectively. In addition note 19 on risk
management details the Group and the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing its
capital; its financial risk management objectives;
summaries of its financial instruments; and its
exposures to credit risk and liquidity.

Name of holder Number %

Mr. Allan Rosengren * 18,807,324 14.73%

Nautilus Trust Company (Jersey)
Ltd as trustee of the Lighthouse
Independent Financial Advisers
Ltd Remuneration Trust 8,479,646 6.64%

Liverpool Victoria Financial
Advice Services Ltd 8,353,706 6.54%

Friends Provident Life and
Pensions Limited 7,497,466 5.87%

Mr. Julian Telling 6,568,908 5.14%

Mr Arthur Lancaster & Boston
Trust Company Ltd 6,470,588 5.07%

Southern Rock Insurance
Company, Mr. Arron Banks
and Mr. Paul Chase-Gardener 6,392,500 5.01%

Skandia Asset Management and
Skandia Livforsakringsaktiebolaget 5,581,383 4.37%

Aegon UK Plc 4,487,689 3.51%

* Of which, Allan Rosengren has a beneficial interest in
1,574,924 Lighthouse Shares through his Self Invested
Personal Pension Plan as at 27 February 2009 and Allan
Rosengren and Julian Telling, a former director of Sumus
Limited, are the sole beneficiaries of the Falcon Retirement
Benefits Scheme which hold 470,000 ordinary shares in
Lighthouse Group plc as at 27 February 2009. These
shares, as yet, have not been allocated. 
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The Group has considerable financial resources with
£12 million of cash at bank and no bank debt or other
financial liabilities with any restrictive or financial
covenants and has long-established relationship with its
clients, advisers and providers. As a consequence, the
directors believe that the Group is well placed to
manage its business risks successfully despite the
current uncertain economic outlook.

The Directors confirm that they are satisfied that the
Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue in business for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
Further information on the basis of preparation of these
financial statements can be seen in Note 1 to both the
consolidated financial statements under International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
and the Parent Company’s financial statements.

EVENTS SINCE THE BALANCE SHEET
DATE

On 12 January 2009 the Group facilitated the transfer
en bloc to LighthouseGP Limited (formerly
LighthousePersonal Limited), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of 45 Independent Financial
Advisers formerly authorised by Godfrey Pearson
Limited on both self-employed and employed terms. In
return, the Group has agreed to guarantee payments to
be made by Graduate Financial Services Limited, the
ultimate parent company of Godfrey Pearson Limited,
over a three year period in respect of a loan from
Lloyds Banking Group Plc up to a maximum of
£433,260, including future interest payable.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group takes its social and environmental 
responsibilities seriously. Where possible the Group’s
offices use high efficiency, low energy equipment,
lighting and heating. The Group’s operations generate
significant amounts of paper waste which is destroyed
and recycled securely. 

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE
AUDITORS

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this
report confirms that:
• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant

audit information of which the Company's auditors
are unaware of and

• the director has taken all of the reasonable steps
that he ought to have taken as a director to make
himself aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Company's auditors are aware
of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of section 234 ZA of the
Companies Act 1985.

DIRECTORS’ QUALIFYING THIRD PARTY
INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

In accordance with the requirements of section 309C of
the Companies Act 1985, qualifying third party indemnity
provisions are in force for the benefit of the directors of
the Company and its associated companies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The directors intend, so far as possible and to the
extent appropriate given the Company’s size and the
constitution of the Board, to comply with the Combined
Code prepared by the Committee on Corporate
Governance chaired by Sir Ronald Hampel and which is
appended to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority. The Board has separate roles for Chairman
and Joint Chief Executives.

The Board has established an Audit Committee, which
meets at least twice a year and comprises Richard Last
(Chairman) and Alex Scott-Barrett, a Remuneration
Committee, which comprises Alex Scott-Barrett
(Chairman), and Richard Last, with formally delegated
responsibilities, and a Regulatory and Risk Committee
which comprises Richard Last, Alex Scott-Barrett and
senior members of the compliance team. 
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The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year and is
responsible for ensuring that the financial performance
of the Company and the Group is properly monitored
and reported. It is also responsible for appointing the
auditors, ensuring the auditors’ independence is not
compromised, and reviewing the reports on the
Company from the auditors in relation to the accounts
and internal control systems.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least twice a
year and is responsible for reviewing the performance
of the executive directors, and for determining the scale
and structure of their remuneration packages and the
basis of their service contracts bearing in mind the
interests of shareholders. The Committee also monitors
performance and approves the payment of performance-
related bonuses.

The Regulatory and Risk Committee meets three
times a year to monitor the Group’s compliance with
regulatory matters. The Board has not established a
Nomination Committee as it regards the approval and
appointment of directors (whether executive or non-
executive) as a matter for consideration by the 
whole Board.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Combined Code introduced a requirement that the
directors’ review should be extended to cover not just
internal financial controls but all controls including
operations, compliance and risk management. 

The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of
internal control. Although no system of internal control
can provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, the Group’s system is designed
to provide the directors with reasonable assurance that
problems are identified on a timely basis and dealt with
appropriately. The key procedures that have been
established and which are designed to provide effective
internal control are as follows:

Management structure: The board of directors meets
regularly and minutes of its meetings are maintained.

Financial reporting: Budgets are prepared and
reviewed by executive management. Any material
variances to actual results are investigated.

Investment appraisal: The Company has a clearly
defined framework for capital expenditure requiring
approval by key personnel and the Board where
appropriate.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the system
of internal controls and it has considered the major
business risks and the control environment. No significant
control deficiencies were reported during the period.

No weaknesses in internal control have resulted in any
material losses, contingencies or uncertainty, which
would require disclosure, as recommended by the
guidance for directors on reporting on internal control,
with the exception of the issues that resulted in the
prior year adjustment in respect of the acquisition of
Carrwood Barker Holdings Limited in December 2005,
full details of which are set out in note 23 to the
financial statements.

These misstatements were of a one off and non-
recurring nature and impacted only on reported results
for periods prior to 1 January 2007. No cash was lost
nor were any customers or advisers adversely affected
and reconciliation procedures have been reviewed and
improved where appropriate to rectify the situation.  

AUDITORS

KPMG Audit Plc were appointed as auditors to the
Group to fill a casual vacancy arising during the year. A
resolution to re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

M Ross

Company Secretary

6 April 2009 
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

The members of the Committee who served during the
year were:
A Scott-Barrettt (Chairman) Appointed 11 June 2008
P Whitehead (Chairman) Retired 6 May 2008
R Last

THE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
REPORT REGULATIONS 2002

The Group is not required to comply with S.I.
2002/1986 (The Directors’ Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002), and accordingly the content of this
report does not include all the information required by
those regulations. 

REMUNERATION POLICY

The policy is to provide remuneration packages for
executive directors which aim to attract and retain high
quality executives and which link their reward to the
Group’s performance.

REMUNERATION PACKAGE

There are four components to the remuneration
package: base salary and benefits, bonus, pension
contribution, and long-term incentive arrangements.
• The base salaries of the executive directors were set

at levels considered to be appropriate when they
entered into service agreements with the Group.
The base salaries are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee annually and any increases are awarded
having regard to performance and salary levels in
comparable organisations.

• The targets for bonus payments are set by the
Remuneration Committee to balance the short and
longer term objectives. Superior performance is
encouraged by providing challenging performance
goals with reference to the Group’s annual budgets
and strategic objectives.

• The Group incorporates an allowance for contributions
to money purchase pension schemes within the
overall remuneration package.

Each director has the option to convert this to
payment of salary in lieu of this. Death-in-service
and critical illness cover is also provided for some
directors. 

• The Company has established approved and
unapproved share option schemes, in which the
executive directors may participate. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST 

During 2006, Lighthouse Group plc shares held by the
EBT (the Lighthouse Independent Financial Advisers
Limited Remuneration Trust) were provisionally
appointed to revocable sub-trusts, for the benefit of the
EBT’s beneficiaries.

CONTRACTS OF SERVICE AND TERMS
OF ENGAGEMENT

The executive directors’ service agreements provide for
annual reviews of salary and for termination on twelve
months’ notice by either party. The non-executive
directors have letters of engagement relating to their
appointments. The agreements may be terminated by
either party on three months’ notice.

DIRECTORS’ FEES

The executive directors are responsible for setting the
fees of the non-executive directors. 

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of the directors during the year was
as set out on the following page.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

Executive directors

D Hickey A Rosengren M Streatfield P Smith P Grigg A Snowball J Stevenson
(from 6 May (from 6 (from 6 May (until 3 May

2008) May 2008) 2008 to 12 2008)
August 2008)

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

2008
Salary & fees 179,460 119,750 199,083 102,750 145,587 23,333 59,261

Compensation for 
loss of office - - - - 187,600 - 204,184

Benefits - 2,265 2,290 - 1,899 613 332
Bonus 50,000 - 30,000 - 20,000 - -

Total excluding pensions 229,460 122,015 231,373 102,750 355,086 23,946 263,777
Pension - 11,667 - - - - -

Total emoluments 2008 229,460 133,682 231,373 102,750 355,086 23,946 263,777

2007
Salary & fees 168,000 - 201,000 - 121,000 - 162,000

Benefits - - 1,757 - 1,792 - 984

Bonus 40,000 - 40,000 - 15,000 - 20,000

Total excluding pensions 208,000 - 242,757 - 137,792 - 182,984

Pension - - - - - - -

Total emoluments 2007 208,000 - 242,757 - 137,792 - 182,984

The benefits relate to health insurance for certain directors and their immediate families.

Non-executive directors

R Last A Scott-Barrett P Tann P Whitehead
(from 7 (from 11 (until 24 (until 6

July 2007) June 2008) May 2007) May 2008)
£ £ £ £

2008
Salary & fees 25,569 14,013 - 9,409

Benefits - – - -

Bonus - - - -

Total excluding pensions 25,569 14,013 - 9,409

Pension - - - -

Total emoluments 2008 25,569 14,013 - 9,409

2007
Salary & fees 12,998 - 10,000 26,167

Benefits - - - -

Bonus - - - -

Total excluding pensions 12,998 - 10,000 26,167

Pension - - - -

Total emoluments 2007 12,998 - 10,000 26,167
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The following directors have been granted options under the approved Company share option scheme.

INTERESTS IN OPTIONS

The following directors have been granted options under the unapproved Company share option scheme:

Date granted No. of ordinary Exercise Earliest date Latest date 
shares price exercisable exercisable

M Streatfield 23 January 2003 138,462 32.5p 23 January 2006 22 January 2013

23 October 2007 1,732,181 24.0p 23 October 2010 22 October 2017

21 May 2008 1,017,819 21.5p 21 May 2011 20 May 2018

2,888,462

D Hickey 23 October 2007 1,690,515 24.0p 23 October 2010 22 October 2017

21 May 2008 1,017,819 21.5p 21 May 2011 20 May 2018

2,708,334

P Smith 21 May 2008 360,465 21.5p 21 May 2011 20 May 2018

P Grigg 23 January 2003 23,078 32.5p 23 January 2006 22 January 2013

23 October 2007 629,884 24.0p 23 October 2010 22 October 2017

21 May 2008 370,116 21.5p 21 May 2011 20 May 2018

1,023,078

Date granted No. of ordinary Exercise Earliest date Latest date 
shares price exercisable exercisable

M Streatfield 23 January 2003 92,307 32.5p 23 January 2007 22 January 2013

D Hickey 23 January 2003 61,538 32.5p 23 January 2007 22 January 2013

23 October 2007 41,667 24.0p 23 October 2010 22 October 2017

103,205

P Smith 21 May 2008 139,535 21.5p 21 May 2011 20 May 2018

P Grigg 23 January 2003 92,307 32.5p 23 January 2007 22 January 2013

The market price of the Company’s shares on 31 December 2008 was 10.5p per share and the high and low share prices
during the year were 24.4p and 9.0p respectively. No options have been exercised by the directors during the year. 

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The directors who held office at 31 December 2008 had
the following beneficial interest in the ordinary share
capital of Lighthouse Group plc at 31 December 2008
according to the register of directors’ interests:

As part of the holdings shown above, A Rosengren had
a beneficial interest in 1,574,294 ordinary shares held 
in his Self Invested Personal Pension Plan and 
M Streatfield had a beneficial interest in 278,758
ordinary shares held in his Self Invested Personal
Pension Plan. 

In addition, A Rosengren and Julian Telling, a former
director of Sumus Limited, are the sole beneficiaries of
the Falcon Retirement Benefits Scheme which holds
470,000 ordinary shares in Lighthouse Group plc as 
at 27 February 2008. These shares have not yet 
been allocated. 

Further to the above, certain of the directors have a 
discretionary interest in the 8,479,646 ordinary shares
held by Nautilus Trust Company (Jersey) Limited as
Trustees of the EBT, the Lighthouse Independent
Financial Advisers Limited Remuneration Trust. 

This interest arises as they are included in the EBT’s
beneficial class. The Trustees have made appointments
from the main fund of the EBT on revocable sub-trusts
which identify the directors as included within the sub-
trust’s beneficial class as follows:

Number of shares
D Hickey 4,834,500
M Streatfield 2,088,000
P Grigg 600,000

At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, 
M Streatfield and P Grigg had a discretionary interest in
1,611,789 ordinary shares held by the Trustees of the
Valerie Gaze Voluntary Settlement. This interest arises
as they are potential beneficiaries of the Trust.

At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, 
M Streatfield and P Grigg had a discretionary interest in
1,611,789 ordinary shares held by the Trustees of the
Michael Gaze Voluntary Settlement. This interest arises
as they are potential beneficiaries of the Trust.

There have been no changes to directors’ interests or
options since the year end.

A Scott-Barrett

Chairman, Remuneration Committee

6 April 2009

Director No of ordinary shares of 1p each 
At 31 Dec 2008 At 31 Dec 2007

D Hickey 428,750 378,750
A Rosengren 18,807,324 -
M Streatfield 278,758 70,834
R Last 500,000 290,000
P Smith 217,500 -
A Scott-Barrett 280,000 -
P Grigg 8,333 8,333

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group
and Parent Company financial statements for each
financial year. As required by the AIM Rules of the
London Stock Exchange they are required to prepare
the Group financial statements in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law and
have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial
statements on the same basis.

The Group and Parent Company financial statements
are required by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to
present fairly the financial position of the Group and the
Parent Company and the performance for that period;
the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such
financial statements that references in the relevant part
of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair
view are references to their achieving a fair presentation.

In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company
financial statements, the directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply

them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable

and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group and the Parent Company will
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Parent
Company and enable them to ensure that its financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They
have a general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of
the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company's website. Legislation in the
UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008
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We have audited the Group and Parent Company
financial statements (the “financial statements”) of
Lighthouse Group plc for the year ended 31 December
2008 which comprise the Group Income Statement, the
Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group
and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group
and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity
and the related notes. These financial statements have
been prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. This report is made solely to the Company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of
the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company
and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in
the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 23.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.
We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we
have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if information specified by
law regarding directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements.

We consider the implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. We
planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presenta-
tion of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair

view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December
2008 and of its loss for the year then ended;

• the Parent Company financial statements give a true
and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the EU as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of
the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the financial statements.

KPMG Audit Plc 

Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor 
100 Temple Street
Bristol
BS1 6AG
6 April 2009

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF LIGHTHOUSEGROUP PLC
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
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Note 2008 2007
£ £

Revenue 3 54,392,607 52,941,313

Cost of sales (38,957,603) (36,317,910)

Gross profit 15,435,004 16,623,403
Administrative expenses 
Other operating expenses (14,881,743) (14,166,971)

Non-recurring operating expenses 5 (981,165) (546,335)
Total operating expenses (15,862,908) (14,713,306)
Impairment charge on goodwill and intangibles 11 (7,572,318) -
Depreciation and amortisation 5 (856,478) (368,189)

Total administrative expenses (24,291,704) (15,081,495)

Operating (loss)/profit 5 (8,856,700) 1,541,908

Finance revenue 6 574,836 410,939
Finance costs 6 (212,365) (55,835)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (8,494,229) 1,897,012
Tax credit 7 721,212 -

(Loss)/profit for the year (7,773,017) 1,897,012

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (7,843,777) 1,897,012
Minority interest 70,760 -

(Loss)/profit for the year (7,773,017) 1,897,012

Basic (loss)/earnings per share 8 (6.98)p 2.58p

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share 8 (6.98)p 2.31p

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and
non-recurring items 553,261 2,456,432

All activities are classed as continuing.

The notes on pages 31 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

At 1 January 2008
As originally reported 836,377 5,695,963 2,002,685 1,999,374 1,991,810 1,579,529 14,105,738 - 14,105,738
Prior year adjustment
(note 23) - - - - - (1,468,364) (1,468,364) - (1,468,364)

At 1 January 2008 -
Restated 836,377 5,695,963 2,002,685 1,999,374 1,991,810 111,165 12,637,374 - 12,637,374
Issue of ordinary share
capital 440,626 - 8,354,897 - - - 8,795,523 - 8,795,523
Acquired with Sumus
Limited (note 14) - - - - - - - 115,464 115,464
Total recognised income
and expense for the year - - - - - (7,843,777) (7,843,777) 70,760 (7,773,017)
Diminution in fair value of
available-for-sale financial
asset (note 13) - - - - - (18,099) (18,099) - (18,099)
Transfer on impairment (7,572,318) 7,572,318 - - -
Share based payment - - - - 176,915 - 176,915 - 176,915
Dividends paid - - - - - (1,092,588) (1,092,588) (79,840) (1,172,428)

At 31 December 2008 1,277,003 5,695,963 2,785,264 1,999,374 2,168,725 (1,270,981) 12,655,348 106,384 12,761,732

At 1 January 2007
as originally reported 752,669 15,713,946 2,002,685 - 1,934,008 (10,218,109) 10,185,199 - 10,185,199
Prior year adjustment
(note 23) - - - - - (1,468,364) (1,468,364) - (1,468,364)

At 1 January 2007 -
Restated 752,669 15,713,946 2,002,685 - 1,934,008 (11,686,473) 8,716,835 - 8,716,835
Issue of ordinary
share capital 83,708 1,882,017 - - - - 1,965,725 - 1,965,725
Total recognised income
and expense for the year - - - - - 1,897,012 1,897,012 - 1,897,012
Share based payment - - - - 57,802 - 57,802 - 57,802
Reduction in share
premium account - (11,900,000) - 1,999,374 - 9,900,626 - - -

At 31 December 2007
as restated 836,377 5,695,963 2,002,685 1,999,374 1,991,810 111,165 12,637,374 - 12,637,374

Share Share Merger Special non- Reserves Retained Total Minority Total
capital premium reserve distributable arising earnings attributable interests

account reserve from to equity
arising from share- share- 

reduction based holders
in share payments
premium

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

26

The notes on pages 31 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

At 1 January 2008 836,377 5,695,963 - 90,364 1,519,375 500,000 8,642,079
Equity contribution to subsidiary
undertaking pursuant to IFRIC 8
(note 13) - - - - 293,800 - 293,800
Issue of ordinary share capital 440,626 - 8,354,897 - - - 8,795,523
Total recognised income and
expense for the year - - - - - (4,564,008) (4,564,008)
Transfer on impairment - - (5,054,076) - - 5,054,076 -
Dividends paid - - - - - (1,092,588) (1,092,588)

At 31 December 2008 1,277,003 5,695,963 3,300,821 90,364 1,813,175 (102,520) 12,074,806

At 1 January 2007 752,669 15,713,946 - - 1,519,375 (9,900,626) 8,085,364
Issue of ordinary share capital 83,708 1,882,017 - - - - 1,965,725
Total recognised income and
expense for the year - - - - - (1,409,010) (1,409,010)
Transfer to retained earnings - - (1,909,010) - 1,909,010 -
Reduction in share premium account - (11,900,000) - 1,999,374 - 9,900,626 -
At 31 December 2007 836,377 5,695,963 - 90,364 1,519,375 500,000 8,642,079

Share Share Merger Special non- Reserves Retained Total
capital premium reserve distributable arising earnings

account reserve from
arising from share

reduction based
in share payments

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

There has been a change in the presentation of the Company Statement of Changes in Equity from that shown in the
previous year. In 2007 a loss of £1,909,010 comprising impairment charges against the carrying value of the Company's
investment in certain subsidiary undertakings, together with provisions against amounts owed by certain subsidiary
undertakings to reduce those amounts to their estimated realisable value, was charged direct to the special undistributable
reserve arising from a reduction in share premium in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

This loss should have been charged to retained earnings via the Company's Income Statement with a transfer between the
special undistributable reserve and retained earnings then being effected as a movement on reserves.

In compiling the comparative figures for 2007 above, the correct treatment has now been applied in order to maintain
consistency. There was no effect on any assets, liabilities or reserves as previously reported.

The notes on pages 31 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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GROUP AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2008

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 12,013,116 8,260,470 - -
Property, plant and equipment 12 339,507 363,962 - -
Available for sale Investments 13 98,810 - 7,715,888 2,402,328

12,451,433 8,624,432 7,715,888 2,402,328

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 15 5,074,959 8,110,817 4,358,918 7,110,981
Cash and cash equivalents 16 12,288,553 8,953,784 - -

17,363,512 17,064,601 4,358,918 7,110,981

Total assets 29,814,945 25,689,033 12,074,806 9,513,309

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 8,173,412 9,597,170 - -
Provisions 18 1,865,531 2,271,057 - 871,230

10,038,943 11,868,227 - 871,230

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 4,500,000 - - -
Deferred tax liabilities 7 1,641,754 - - -
Provisions 18 872,516 1,183,432 - -

7,014,270 1,183,432 - -

Total liabilities 17,053,213 13,051,659 - 871,230

Net assets 12,761,732 12,637,374 12,074,806 8,642,079

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 1,277,003 836,377 1,277,003 836,377
Share premium account 5,695,963 5,695,963 5,695,963 5,695,963
Merger reserve 2,785,264 2,002,685 3,300,821 -
Special non-distributable reserve 1,999,374 1,999,374 90,364 90,364
Other reserves - share based payments 2,168,725 1,991,810 1,813,175 1,519,375
Retained earnings 23 (1,270,981) 111,165 (102,520) 500,000

Total equity attributable to equity holders of
the company 12,655,348 12,637,374 12,074,806 8,642,079
Minority interests 106,384 - - -

Total equity 12,761,732 12,637,374 12,074,806 8,642,079

Group Company
Note 2008 2007 2008 2007

restated
£ £ £ £

The financial statements on pages 25 to 59 were approved by the Board on 6 April 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

D Hickey, Director
P Smith, Director

The notes on pages 31 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

Operating activities

Group (loss)/profit before tax for the year (8,494,229) 1,897,012

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash
(outflows)/inflows from operating activities 
Finance revenues (574,836) (410,939)
Finance costs 212,365 55,835
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 2,426
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 200,509 218,257
Amortisation of intangible assets 655,969 149,932
Impairment of intangible assets 7,572,318 -
Share based payments 176,915 57,802
Adjustment for net settlement of revenue against cost of asset purchase - (140,632)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 4,233,395 1,348,341
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (3,998,751) (2,320,607)
Movement in provisions (1,567,606) 172,118

Cash (utilised by)/generated from operations (1,583,941) 1,029,545
Finance costs paid (196,365) (55,835)
Income taxes paid (315,828) -

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (2,096,134) 973,710

Investing activities 
Payments to acquire intangible assets (61,410) (63,775)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (97,750) (99,428)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 500 -
Expenses associated with acquisitions - (115,288)
Finance revenues received 574,836 410,939
Net inflow associated with acquisition of subsidiary undertakings being
cash acquired £5,048,468 less cash consideration paid £2,925,144 14 2,123,324 -

Net cash inflow from investing activities 2,539,500 132,448

Financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 1,021 1,047,738
Expenses associated with issue of share capital (437,190) -
Proceeds from new trade facility 4,500,000 -
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (1,092,588) -
Dividends paid to minority interests (79,840) -

Net cash inflow from financing activities 2,891,403 1,047,738

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,334,769 2,153,896
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8,953,784 6,799,888

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 16 12,288,553 8,953,784

Note 2008 2007
£ £

The notes on pages 31 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Operating activities
Loss before tax for the year (4,564,008) (1,409,010)

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash
(outflows)/inflows from operating activities 
Investment revenues (700,000) (500,000)
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables 4,128,901 (1,447,738)
Movement in provisions (871,230) 871,230
Impairment of investments 7,512,078 336,316
Impairment of gross recoverables (1,376,840) 701,464

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 4,128,901 (1,447,738)

Investing activities
Receipt of dividends 700,000 500,000
Payments to acquire investments (2,925,144) -
Payments to acquire additional share capital in subsidiary undertaking (375,000) (100,000)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (2,600,144) 400,000

Financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 1,021 1,047,738
Expense associated with issue of share capital (437,190) -
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (1,092,588) -

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (1,528,757) 1,047,738

Increase in cash and cash equivalents - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year - -

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 16 - -

Note 2008 2007
£ £

The notes on pages 31 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

1. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS

The Group and Company financial statement of
Lighthouse Group plc for the year ended 31 December
2008 were authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 6 April 2009 and the balance sheets were
signed on the board’s behalf by David Hickey and Peter
Smith. Lighthouse Group plc is a public limited
company incorporated and domiciled in England and
Wales. The company’s ordinary shares are traded on
the London Alternative Investment Market.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
company’s financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted for use in the European
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 1985. The principal accounting
policies adopted by the Group and by the Company are
set out in note 2.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption
provided under section 230 of the Companies Act 1985
not to publish its individual income statement and
related notes. 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The accounting policies which follow set out the
material policies which have been applied in preparing
the financial statements of the Group and Company for
the year ended 31 December 2008. The Group and
Company financial statements are presented in sterling.

Critical estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of uncertainty and
critical judgements in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is
as set out below or is included in the following notes:
• going concern: see below
• utilisation of tax losses: note 7
• measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-

generating units containing goodwill and intangible
assets: note 11

• accounting for business combinations: note 14
• measurement of the recoverable amount of trade

receivables: note 15
• measurement of potential clawbacks and

complaints by customers: notes 15 and 18
• valuation of financial instruments: see page 34
• measurement of share based payments: note 21.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the
factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position, are set out in the Business
Reviews contained within the Chairman’s Statement,
Joint Chief Executives’ Review and the Report of the
Directors within the Annual Report. The financial
position of the Group, its cash flows and its liquidity
position are described in the Financial Commentary
section of the Joint Chief Executives’ Review. In addition
note 19 to the financial statements details the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing its
capital, its financial risk management objectives and its
exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources with
£12 million of cash at bank and no bank debt or other
financial liabilities with any restrictive or financial
covenants and has long-established relationships with
its clients, advisers and providers. As a consequence,
the directors believe that the Group is well placed to
manage its business risks successfully despite the
current uncertain economic outlook.
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After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual
report and financial statements. 

Lapse provision
In the event of a clawback of indemnity commission in
respect of policies cancelled during the indemnity
period the Group has an obligation to settle the liability.
The provision is calculated by reference to historical
data resulting from past claims, referenced to present
day sales of indemnity products. An amount relating to
the recoverable adviser element of the provision is
included within debtors.

Complaints provision
The Group has an obligation to settle upheld complaints.
Any complaint is recorded and assessed as to its validity
and financial quantum. Cases where there is a 50% or
greater likelihood of redress are provided for in full. Save
for the excess, which is recoverable from the adviser, the
amount payable in redress is recoverable from
Professional Indemnity insurance cover. The Group’s
exposure is therefore limited to recovering the excess
from the adviser. Recoverability is assessed on an
adviser by adviser basis and provision made where
necessary.

Bad debt provision
A small number of advisers are indebted to the Group.
This debt ordinarily arises from clawbacks or complaint
insurance excesses applied to the adviser’s account.
Each one of these is reviewed regularly in conjunction
with the amounts retained from advisers to cover
potential clawbacks and provision made where
recovery is deemed necessary.

Goodwill and intangibles
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
and intangibles are reviewed for impairment, annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to the related cash-generating units
monitored by management.

Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill,
an impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated
Income Statement.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of Lighthouse Group plc and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition
when the Group obtains control and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred out of the Group. Where there is a loss of
control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial
statements include the results for the part of the reporting
year during which the Group has control. Control
comprises the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit
from its activities and is achieved through direct or
indirect ownership of voting rights, currently exercisable
or convertible potential voting rights or by way of 
contractual agreement.

All intra group balances and transactions, income and
expenses and profit and losses from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in full.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration
received, is stated net of value added tax and is earned
within the United Kingdom as commissions, fees and
administration charges.

Commission income comprises commissions receivable
on inception of a new policy or investment product
(‘initial commissions’) and commission receivable on
renewal ('renewal commissions'). Initial commissions
are recognised when the policy goes on risk after taking
account of provisions for the potential cancellation of
policies where commission is received under indemnity
terms. Renewal commissions are recognised when
received. Fees for financial advice, administration
charges and other services are recognised as the
services are provided.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Interest income represents bank interest receivable on
the Group’s cash balances and is recognised as it is
earned over the term of the deposit.

Business combinations and Goodwill

Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to the date of
transition to IFRS is stated at net book value as at the
transition date. Business combinations after 1 January
2006 are accounted for under IFRS 3 using the
purchase method. Any excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities is recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
as goodwill. Goodwill at the transition date and any that
arises on acquisitions is not amortised. To the extent that
the net fair value of the acquired entity’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is greater than
the cost of the investment, a gain is recognised
immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to the related cash-generating units
monitored by management. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, including goodwill, an impairment loss
is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.
Any impairment is allocated first against goodwill and
then against intangibles.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-
generating unit is taken into account when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or an operation
within it.

Investment in Group undertakings

In the Company’s Balance Sheet, investments in Group
undertakings are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at
cost and those identified in a business combination are
capitalised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. An
intangible asset acquired as part of a business
combination is recognised outside goodwill if the asset
is separable or arises from contractual or other legal
rights and its fair value can be measured reliably.
Following initial recognition, the carrying amount of an
intangible asset is its cost less any accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangibles with a finite life have no residual value and
are amortised on a straight line basis over their
expected useful lives as follows:
• Commissions processing

software and development 5 years
• Acquired customer relationships 9-13 years
• Acquired Appointed Representative

contracts 13 years

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.
Cost comprises the aggregate amount paid and the fair
value of any other consideration given to acquire the
asset and includes costs directly attributable to making
the asset capable of operating as intended. Depreciation
is calculated to write off the cost of the asset over its
estimated useful life to its residual value based on
prices prevailing at the balance sheet date, on a
straight-line basis as follows:
• Leasehold improvements Lower of life

of lease or 10 years
• Office equipment 5-10 years
• Computer equipment 3 years
• Motor vehicles 4 years

All property, plant and equipment is reviewed for
impairment when there are indications that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. If there is evidence of
impairment then the asset is written down to its
recoverable amount. Any depreciation or impairment is
charged in the Income Statement as an expense. 
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Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually.
An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the derecognition of the asset is included in the Income
Statement in the period of derecognition.

Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
Where an indicator of impairment exists or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group
makes a formal estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired
and is written down to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a post-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Impairment losses on continuing operations are
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in
the expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made
at each reporting date as to whether there is any
indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If
that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased
amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years.

Such reversal is recognised in the Consolidated Income
Statement unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase. Impairment losses recognised in
relation to goodwill are not reversed for subsequent
increases in its recoverable amount. 

Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise 
investments in equity and debt securities, trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans
and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value
through profit and loss, any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-
derivative financial instruments are measured as
described below.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and
call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose only of the cash flow
statement. Accounting for finance income and expenses
is discussed on page 35 of the financial statements.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group's investment in a certain debt security is
classified as an available-for-sale financial asset.
Subsequent to initial recognition, such assets are
recognised at fair value and changes therein, other than
impairment losses, are recognised directly in equity.
When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss on equity is transferred to profit and loss.

Other non-derivative financial instruments
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment losses.

Share capital - ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares and share options are recognised as a
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the
effect is material, expected future cashflows are
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects,
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance policy, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when recovery is virtually certain. The expense relating to
any provision is presented in the Income Statement net of
any reimbursement. Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to unwinding the discount is
recognised as a finance cost. The provision for clawback
of indemnity commission represents the expected value
of commissions potentially reclaimable by product
providers in respect of policies cancelled during the
indemnity period based on past experience of such
claims. An amount relating to the element of clawbacks
recoverable from advisers is included within debtors.

Pension schemes

The Group maintains a number of defined contribution
schemes and contributions are charged to the Income
Statement in the year in which they are due.

Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds
invested (including available-for-sale financial assets) and
gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the Income
Statement, using the effective interest method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on
borrowings and other financial liabilities (such as trade
facilities) and impairment losses recognised on financial
assets. All borrowing costs and related finance
expenses are recognised in the Income Statement
using the effective interest method.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred
tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the Income
Statement except where it relates to an item recognised
directly in equity, in which case the related tax is also
recognised directly in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustments
to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet
method. providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. For the purposes of this policy
intangible assets arising as a result of a business
combination is treated as a temporary difference and
deferred tax provided accordingly.

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following
temporary differences:
• Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill;
• Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor the taxable profit or loss; and

• In respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets (including unutilised tax
losses carried forward) are recognised only to the
extent that the directors consider that it is more likely
than not that there will be sufficient taxable profits from
which the future reversal of the underlying timing
differences can be deducted. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured
on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.
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Non-recurring items

The Group presents as non-recurring items within the
relevant income or expenditure category on the face of
the Income Statement, those material items of income
and expense which, because of the nature and expected
infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit
separate presentation to allow shareholders to
understand better the elements of financial 
performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison
with prior periods and to better assess trends in
financial performance.

Development costs

Development expenditure on an individual project is
recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or
sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to
complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of the development
expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when 
development is complete and the asset is available for
use. It is amortised over the period of expected future
benefit. During the period of development, the asset is
tested for impairment annually.

Share based payments

The cost of equity settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted and is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period, which ends on the
date on which the relevant employees become fully
entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an
appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity settled
transactions, no account is taken of any vesting
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of the company. No expense is recognised
for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for
awards where vesting is conditional upon a market
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each Balance Sheet date before vesting, the
cumulative expense is calculated, representing the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
management’s best estimate of the achievement or
otherwise of non-market conditions and of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or in the
case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be
treated as vesting as described above. The movement
in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet
date is recognised in the Income Statement, with a
corresponding entry in equity.

Where the terms of equity settled awards are modified
or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled
or settled award, the cost based on the original award
terms continues to be recognised over the original
vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised
over the remainder of the new vesting period for the
incremental fair value of any modification, based on the
difference between the fair value of the original award
and the fair value of the modified award, both
measured on the date of modification. No reduction is
recognised if this difference is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
cost not yet recognised in the Income Statement for the
award is expensed immediately. Any compensation
paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation
or settlement date is deducted from equity, with any
excess over fair value being treated as an expense in
the Income Statement.

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional
provisions of IFRS 2 in respect of equity settled awards
so as to apply IFRS 2 only to those equity settled
awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested before 1 January 2006.

Share option awards of the Parent Company’s equity
instruments in respect of settling grants to employees
of a subsidiary company of the parent are disclosed as
a charge to the profit and loss and a credit to the equity
within the relevant subsidiary company, which better
describes the underlying nature of the transaction.
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Leases

Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of
the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases and rentals payable are
charged in the Income Statement on a straight line
basis over the lease term. Assets held under finance
leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease, with a
corresponding liability being recognised for the lower of
the fair value of the leased asset and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the reduction of the lease liability
and finance charges in the Income Statement so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Assets held under finance leases
are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful
life of the asset and the lease term.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective or
have not been early adopted by the Group. 

The following standards, interpretations and
amendments to existing standards have been released
by the IASB and IFRIC. The effective dates stated here
are those given in the original IASB/IFRIC standards
and interpretations. As the Group and the Company
prepare their financial statements in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the European Union, the application
of new standards and interpretations will be subject to
their having been endorsed for use in the EU via the EU
Endorsement Mechanism. In the majority of cases this
will result in an effective date consistent with that given
in the original standard or interpretation but the need
for endorsement restricts the Group’s discretion to early
adopt standards. The standards and interpretations
shown below are awaiting endorsement and cannot be
early adopted by the Group:
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International Accounting Standards (IAS / IFRS) Effective date
IFRS 1 Revised First Time Adoption of IFRS 1 July 2009
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009
IFRS 7 Amendment to IFRS 7 - Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

(revised March 2009) 1 January 2009
IAS 27 Amendment to IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009
IAS 39 Amendment to IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition & Measurement:

Eligible Hedged Items (revised July 2008) 1 July 2009
IAS 39 Amendment to IAS 39 - Reclassification of Financial Assets: Effective Date & Transition

(revised November 2008) 1 July 2008
IAS 39 Amendment to IAS 39 and IFRIC 9 - Embedded Derivatives (revised March 2009) 30 June 2009

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009
IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers 1 July 2009

International Accounting Standards (IAS / IFRS) Effective date
IFRS 2 Amendment to IFRS 2 – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1 January 2009
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007) 1 January 2009
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007) 1 January 2009
IAS 27 Amendment to IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them:
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Whilst the revised IAS 1 will have no impact on the
measurement of the Group’s results or net assets it is
likely to result in certain changes in the presentation of
the Group’s financial statements from 2009 onwards.

The amendment to IFRS 2 restricts the definition of
vesting conditions to include only service conditions
(requiring a specified period of service to be completed)
and performance conditions (requiring the other party
to achieve a personal goal or contribute to achieving a
corporate target). All other features are not vesting
conditions, and whereas a failure to achieve such a
condition was previously regarded as a forfeiture (giving
rise to a reversal of amounts previously charged to
profit) it must be reflected in the grant date fair value of
the award and treated as a cancellation, which results
in either an acceleration of the expected charge, or a
continuation over the remaining vesting period,
depending on whether the condition is under the
control of the entity or counterparty. The amendment is
mandatory for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 and the Group is currently assessing its impact on
the financial statements, although it is not expected to
be material.

The Group does not anticipate early adoption of the
revised IFRS 3 and so will apply it prospectively to all
business combinations on or after 1 July 2009. Whilst it
is not possible to estimate the outcome of adoption,
the key features of the revised IFRS 3 include a 
requirement for acquisition-related costs to be
expensed and not included in the purchase price; and
for contingent consideration to be recognised at fair
value on the acquisition date (with subsequent changes
recognised in the income statement and not as a
change to goodwill).  

IFRS 8 which applies to financial statement prepared in
respect of accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2009 requires reporting entities to provide a
segmental analysis based on the components of the
Group that the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”) monitors in order to make decisions about
operating matters.  In the opinion of the directors, the
CODM applicable to the Group is the Board of
Lighthouse Group plc.

The directors have considered the question of early
adoption of IFRS 8 and have concluded that it would
be more appropriate to adopt the requirements it
introduces when it becomes effective in 2009. Aside
from any additional segmental analysis that may be
disclosed in future financial statements, the other
potential impact of implementing IFRS 8 could be a
redefinition of the constitution of the Cash Generating
Units for the purposes of allocation of goodwill and
intangible assets and as a consequence of the results
of any future impairment reviews.

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the
remaining standards and interpretations will have a
material impact on the Group’s financial statements in
the period of initial application.

3. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

The revenue and profit before taxation are attributable to
the principal activity of the Group and relate to services
provided in the United Kingdom. All of the Group’s
divisions sell the same products and there is no
geographical basis to differentiate any particular division. 

The Group operates in one primary business segment,
being that of supplying Independent Financial Advice
(IFA) and IFA Network services. In the opinion of the
directors the risks and returns of each class of business
e. g. investments, pensions, assurance and mortgage
products are not significantly different from each other
and so they make up one business segment as a
whole.  Further information concerning the revenues
achieved for each class of business is set out in the
Joint Chief Executives’ Review.

The secondary segment is geographic and as the
Group operates wholly within the UK no further
segmental analysis is appropriate or required.

Finance revenue

Finance revenue is bank interest earned on the Group’s
bank deposits.
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Wages and salaries - advisers 1,686,426 2,166,821
Wages and salaries - other staff 5,969,176 5,373,584
Share based payment 176,915 57,802
Social security costs 858,608 838,009
Other pension costs 176,358 143,413

8,867,483 8,579,629

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows: Number Number
Executive directors 5 4
Administration staff 214 197

219 201

Directors 2008 2007
£ £

Aggregate emoluments 985,614 820,698
Compensation for loss of office 391,784 -
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 11,667 -

1,389,065 820,698

Highest paid director
Aggregate emoluments 231,373 242,757
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes - -

231,373 242,757

2008 2007
£ £

4. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND STAFF COSTS

The staff costs for the year, including executive directors’ remuneration, were as follows:
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned 200,509 218,257
Amortisation of intangible assets 655,969 149,932
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 7,572,318 -
Leasehold property - minimum lease payments 439,849 348,836
Increase in debt provision 149,351 56,920
Hire of equipment under operating leases 52,345 43,865
Non-recurring operating expenses (see over) 981,165 546,335

2008 2007
£ £

5. GROUP OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT 

The operating (loss)/profit is stated after charging:

None of the directors exercised any share options during the year (2007: none).
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Audit of the financial statements 43,000 36,800

Other fees to auditors:
Local statutory audits for subsidiaries 61,500 72,000
Other fees to auditor -Taxation services 18,500 9,450
Other fees to auditor - Regulatory services 6,000 29,700
Other fees to auditor - Conversion to IFRS - 34,000
Other services 17,500 13,470

146,500 195,420

Fees to former auditor 
Audit of the 2007 financial statements 8,800 -
Other fees to auditor – Reduction in share premium 5,500 -
Other fees to auditor – Acquisition of Sumus Limited 76,300 -

90,600 -

2008 2007
£ £

Auditors’ remuneration

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor as detailed below:

Re-organisation costs subsequent to business combination (note 14) 981,165 -
Costs arising from the settlement of legal costs in respect of a claim relating to a former
employee court case - 333,729
Settlement of potential litigation against the trustee of the Group’s EBT - 212,606

981,165 546,335

2008 2007
£ £

Non-recurring operating expenses
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Revenue - Bank interest income 574,836 410,939

Expense - Finance expense on short term funding (48,445) (55,835)
Expense – Interest on trade facility (163,920) -

Total expense (212,365) (55,835)

2008 2007
£ £

6. FINANCE REVENUE AND EXPENSE 

Fees in relation to the acquisition of Sumus Limited have been treated as an acquisition cost (see note 14).
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Analysis of charge in year
Current tax:
UK corporation tax charge at 28.5% 79,207 -
Deferred tax credit (800,419) -

Tax credit on loss on ordinary activities (721,212) -

Reconciliation of the total tax charge 
The tax assessed for the year is different to the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK. The difference is explained below:
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (8,494,229) 1,897,012

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate
of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% (2007: 30%) (2,420,855) 569,104
Effects of:
Provisions for impairment not deductible for tax purposes 1,475,283 -
Share based payment charge not deductible for tax purposes 50,421 17,341
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 30,600 18,089
Non-taxable  income - (123,588)
Capital allowances for period in excess of depreciation (11,859) (17,716)
Other permanent differences (18,722) -
Brought forward tax losses utilised (450,467) (463,230)
Current year losses not relieved 607,924 -
Differences in rates 16,463 -

Tax credit for year (721,212) -

Deferred tax - Group
The deferred tax balances can be analysed as follows: 2008 2008 2007 2007

Provided Unprovided Provided Unprovided
£ £ £ £

Difference between accumulated depreciation and
capital allowances - (3,021) - (84,287)
Trading losses - (1,960,745) - (1,707,600)
On fair value of intangible assets arising on
business combination (note 14) 1,641,754 - - -

Deferred tax liability/(asset) 1,641,754 (1,963,766) - (1,791,887)

The movement in the provision for deferred tax during
the year was as follows: 2008 2007

£ £
Provision at 1 January - -
Arising on intangible asset acquired as part of business
combination with Sumus Limited during year (note 14) 2,442,173 -
Credit to income statement during the year (800,419) -

Provision at 31 December 1,641,754 -

7. TAXATION

41

The Board is of the opinion that, given the available losses and the uncertainty as to the timescale over which they
may be utilised, it would be inappropriate currently to recognise any deferred tax assets in respect of the losses at this
stage. However the Board is keeping this position under review.

2008 2007
£ £
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9. DIVIDENDS PAID
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8. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the (loss)/earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders divided
by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, excluding shares held by the Trust. The calculation
of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the basic (loss)/earnings per share, adjusted to allow for the issue of shares
on the assumed conversion of all dilutive options. Reconciliations of the (loss)/earnings and weighted average number
of shares used in the calculations are set out below:

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The basic (loss)/earnings per share can be
analysed as follows:
On EBITDA * 553,261 112,434,966 0.49p 2,456,432 73,396,354 3.35p

Effects of:
Exceptional expense (981,165) 112,434,966 (0.87)p (546,335) 73,396,354 (0.74)p
Depreciation and amortisation (856,478) 112,434,966 (0.76)p (368,189) 73,396,354 (0.50)p
Impairment charge (7,572,318) 112,434,966 (6.74)p - 73,396,354 -
Net finance revenue 362,471 112,434,966 0.32p 355,104 73,396,354 0.47p
Tax credit 721,212 112,434,966 0.64p - 73,396,354 -
Minority interests (70,760) 112,434,966 (0.06)p - 73,396,354 -
(Losses)/profits attributable to ordinary
shareholders (7,843,777) 112,434,966 (6.98)p 1,897,012 73,396,354 2.58p
Dilutive effect
Options - - - - 8,894,626 (0.27)p

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (7,843,777) 112,434,966 (6.98)p 1,897,012 82,290,980 2.31p

*Earnings before exceptional expenses, interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, and impairment charges.

2008 2007
(Loss)/ Weighted Per share (Loss)/ Weighted Per 

earnings average amount earnings average share
number number

of shares of shares
£ pence £ pence

There are 17,525,419 options (2007: 591,168) which could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future, but were
not included within the calculation of diluted loss per share as they were anti-dilutive for the periods presented. 

Special dividend at 0.5p per share 418,594 -
Final dividend for 2007 at 0.5p per share (2006: Nil)   418,594 -
Interim dividend for 2008 at 0.2p per share (2007: Nil) 255,400 -

1,092,588 -

2008 2007
£ £
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10. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 1985 and
has not presented its own income statement in these financial statements.The Company’s loss for the year was
£4,564,008 comprising provisions against the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries and group balances with
subsidiary entities less a dividend from a subsidiary undertaking, none of which was dealt with in the Group result, and the
impairment of the carrying value of investments resulting in an exceptional charge at Group level.

In 2007 the Company’s loss for the year of £1,409,010 arose from provisions against the carrying value of investments in
subsidiaries and group balances with subsidiary entities less a dividend from a subsidiary undertaking, none of which was
dealt with in the Group result. 

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

43

Cost
At 1 January 2007 8,877,466 224,946 - - 9,102,412
Additions - 63,775 1,183,282 - 1,247,057
Adjustment in respect of earn-out
not met (552,480) - - - (552,480)

At 31 December 2007 8,324,986 288,721 1,183,282 - 9,796,989

Additions – acquisitions (note 14) 3,197,477 - - 8,722,047 11,919,524
Additions – software development - 61,409 - - 61,409

At 31 December 2008 11,522,463 350,130 1,183,282 8,722,047 21,777,922

Amortisation
At 1 January 2007 1,373,718 12,869 - - 1,386,587

Charge for the year - 51,325 98,607 - 149,932

At 1 January 2008 1,373,718 64,194 98,607 - 1,536,519
Charge for the year - 61,743 131,475 462,751 655,969
Impairment charge 5,176,432 - - 2,395,886 7,572,318

At 31 December 2008 6,550,150 125,937 230,082 2,858,637 9,764,806

Net book amount
At 31 December 2008 4,972,313 224,193 953,200 5,863,410 12,013,116

Net book amount
At 31 December 2007 6,951,268 224,527 1,084,675 - 8,260,470

GROUP Goodwill Commission Acquired Acquired Total
processing customer Appointed

software and relationships Representative
development and adviser

costs contracts
£ £ £ £ £

The goodwill of £3,197,477 arising on acquisition represents the intangible assets that could not be individually
separated and reliably measured due to their nature and reflects the strategic importance of broadening the Group’s
business offering, and the value attributed to the brands, the management and workforce so acquired. The Group has
determined that it has two business segments and Cash Generating Units (CGU) for the purposes of assessing the
carrying value of goodwill, being the original businesses acquired by the Group prior to 2007 and those acquired in
2008 by way of the merger with Sumus Limited. These two CGUs had attributed goodwill of £6,951,268 and
£3,197,477 respectively before any impairment charge arising during the year.  
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The addition to intangibles during the year relates to the value attributed to the Appointed Representative and adviser
contracts arising from the acquisition of Sumus Limited on 6 May 2008 (see note 14) and the addition to goodwill
represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid in respect of the business combination over the value
attributed to those intangible assets and the fair value of the other assets and liabilities so acquired (see note 14).

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
the Group’s latest approved budget for the 2009 financial year and its estimate of future cash flows after that date. The
long-term cash flow projection extrapolates the 2009 budget figures over five years using a zero growth rate in 2009
and 2010 and 5% for the three subsequent years and is discounted using a post-tax discount rate of 10.8% (which
equates to a pre-tax discount rate of 15%). The cash flows in perpetuity are then extrapolated from the end of that five
year period using a 3% growth rate (being the directors’ best estimate of the long-term growth rate of the UK
economy) and are discounted at the same post-tax discount rate of 10.8%.

The calculation of values in use is most sensitive to the assumed rate of growth in cash flows which has been based
on a modest assessment of the impact of future external market conditions on investors’ appetite for investment
products and the discount rate which has been set on the basis of management's assessment of the risks applicable
to the future cash flows of the CGU in question. In the opinion of management there is no discernable difference in the
risk profile of either CGU and accordingly the same discount rate has been applied to the estimated future cash flows
of each CGU. The impairment review included a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions in the cash flow projections
and the rate at which the projections were discounted to arrive at the final value in use. 

The impact of a 1% variation in the assumed growth rate and post-tax discount rates applied to the estimated future
cash flows of the CGUs as part of the impairment review would be as follows:

A 1% increase in the growth rate assumed from 2014 onwards 102 767
A 1% decrease in the growth rate assumed from 2012 onwards (190) (747)
A 1% decrease in the post tax discount rate applied to the estimated
future cash flows 257 780
A 1% increase in the post tax discount rate applied to the estimated
future cash flows (237) (998)

Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in value in use of in value in use of

pre-merger Sumus CGU
Lighthouse CGU

£’000 £’000

The sensitivity in respect of an increase of 1% in the future growth rate has been applied from 2014 on as in the
opinion of the directors any recovery to growth in the market for the distribution of retail financial product in the UK in
the short-to-medium term is uncertain. 

The impairment reviews of the goodwill and other intangible assets arising on the business combination between the
company and Sumus Limited undertaken as at 31 December 2008 and of the net book value of the goodwill held by
the Group as at 1 January 2008 indicated a deficit in comparing the discounted value in use with the fair values of the
consideration paid (and hence the values attributed to the goodwill and other intangible assets so acquired or held)
and as a result impairment charges of £5,593,363 and £1,978,955 are respectively required. The aggregate 
impairment of £7,572,318 has been charged to the Income Statement in 2008.  
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The impairments arose as a result of the impact of the severe deterioration in the economic conditions prevalent in the
UK economy in the latter part of 2008 which the directors expect to continue through 2009 and into 2010. This had the
result of a significant reduction in the estimated future cash flows of the CGU so acquired from those anticipated at
the time of the merger in May 2008 and also of the CGU held by the Group as at 1 January 2008.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP Motor Leasehold Office & Total
vehicles improvements computer

equipment
£ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2007 - 161,522 1,333,813 1,495,335
Additions at cost - - 99,428 99,428
Disposals - - (17,594) (17,594)

At 1 January 2008 - 161,522 1,415,647 1,577,169
Additions at cost - 2,704 95,046 97,750
Acquisitions (note 14) 10,590 - 68,223 78,813
Disposals - - (921) (921)
At 31 December 2008 10,590 164,226 1,577,995 1,752,811

Depreciation
At 1 January 2007 - 70,394 939,724 1,010,118
Provided in the year - 17,042 201,215 218,257
Disposals - - (15,168) (15,168)

At 1 January 2008 - 87,436 1,125,771 1,213,207
Provided in the year 9,091 17,042 174,376 200,509
Disposals - - (412) (412)
At 31 December 2008 9,091 104,478 1,299,735 1,413,304

Net book amount
At 31 December 2008 1,499 59,748 278,260 339,507

Net book amount
At 31 December 2007 - 74,086 289,876 363,962

Fair value of listed investment acquired with Sumus Limited (note 14) 116,909 -
Diminution of fair value in period to 31 December 2008 charged to equity (18,099) -

Fair value at 31 December 2008 98,810 -

GROUP 2008 2007
£ £

13. INVESTMENTS 
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LighthouseWealth Limited Provision of independent financial advice 100%
Lighthouse Corporate Services Limited Provision of business services 100%
City Pensions Limited Administration of pension schemes 100%
LighthouseCarrwood Limited Provision of independent financial advice 100%
LighthouseXpress Limited Provision of regulatory authorisation and business services 100%
LighthouseTemple Limited Provision of independent financial advice 100%
Sumus Limited Provision of business services 100%
The Falcon Group Plc Provision of regulatory authorisation and business services 100%
Financial Services Advice and Support Limited Provision of regulatory authorisation and business services 100%
Deverill Black & Company Limited Provision of independent financial advice 50.1%

Name of company Nature of business % of shares held
and voting rights

46

Cost at 1 January 6,119,895 6,572,375
Equity contribution to subsidiary undertaking in respect of share based payments
pursuant to IFRIC 8 293,800 -
Acquisition of Sumus Limited 12,156,838 -
Adjustment in respect of acquisition of Carrwood Barker Holdings Limited - (552,480)
Additional investment in subsidiary 375,000 100,000

Cost at 31 December 18,945,533 6,119,895

Provision for impairment at 1 January (3,717,567) (3,381,251)
Provisions for impairment made in the year (7,512,078) (336,316)

Provision for impairment at 31 December (11,229,645) (3,717,567)

Net book value 7,715,888 2,402,328

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
COMPANY 2008 2007

£ £

Subsidiary undertakings

The principal subsidiary undertakings are:

All interests in the subsidiaries above are held by the Parent Company with the exception of The Falcon Group Plc,
Financial Services Advice and Support Limited and Deverill Black & Company Limited, which are held by Sumus
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. All companies are incorporated and operate in Great Britain, are
included in the Group financial statements and are trading. All holdings relate to ordinary share capital in the
subsidiaries.

14. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 6 May 2008, the Group acquired by way of a merger (which has been accounted for as an acquisition as required
by IFRS 3 and the Group’s accounting policy set out on page 33) the entire issued share capital of Sumus Limited for a
total consideration of £12,156,838 which was satisfied by a combination of cash and equity shares as detailed below.
The book and fair value of the net assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition were as set out opposite.
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Pre-acquisition Accounting Fair value Recognised
book value policy alignment adjustments values on

adjustments acquisition
£ £ £ £

Intangible assets 3,061,871 - 5,660,176 8,722,047
Property, plant and equipment 78,813 - - 78,813
Other investments 26,500 - 90,409 116,909
Trade and other receivables 1,600,359 (225,687) (23,538) 1,351,134
Other receivables 31,102 - - 31,102
Cash and cash equivalents 5,048,468 - - 5,048,468
Trade and other payables (2,481,004) (80,508) (226,174) (2,787,686)
Corporation tax liabilities (243,415) - - (243,415)
Deferred tax - (857,324) (1,584,849) (2,442,173)
Provisions (800,374) - - (800,374)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 6,322,320 (1,163,519) 3,916,024 9,074,825
Minority interests (115,464)

8,959,361
Goodwill on acquisition 3,197,477
Consideration 12,156,838

Satisfied by:
Fair value of 43,960,446 shares issued as fully paid (note 20) 9,231,694
Cash 2,925,144

12,156,838

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based upon applicable IFRSs immediately prior to the acquisition.
The value of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values. In determining the fair
values of the Appointed Representative and adviser contracts the Group applied a post-tax discount rate of 10.8%
(equating to a pre-tax discount rate of 15%) to the estimated future cash inflows of the Sumus sub-group Cash
Generating Unit (CGU).

The fair value adjustments set out above arose as follows: £ £
Change in revenue recognition policy from submission to Group policy of being on risk (225,687)
Amendment to Group policy re recognition of unmatched business (259,274)
Less trade and other payables impact of revenue recognition change above 178,766

(80,508)
Provision for deferred tax on recognition of intangible asset not previously recognised (857,324)
As stated above (1,163,519)

The fair value adjustments set out above arose as follows: £ £
Recognition of intangible assets arising on business combination 5,660,176
Increase in carrying value of available-for-sale investment to fair value from cost 90,409
Provisions against trade and other receivables (23,538)
Provision for business combination transaction costs (216,175)
Sundry accruals required (9,999)

(226,174)
Provision for deferred tax on intangible asset arising on business combination (1,584,849)
As stated above 3,916,024
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

48

In the eight months to 31 December 2008 Sumus Limited and its subsidiaries contributed revenues of £15,356,831 
and a profit before tax of £629,886. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2008, management estimates that the
consolidated revenues would have been £64,242,563 and the consolidated loss for the year before tax (after the
impairment charges of £7,572,318) would have been £7,779,801. 

Cash consideration paid (2,825,816)
Transaction costs paid (99,328)
Cash acquired 5,048,468
Net cash inflow on merger 2,123,324

Reconciliation of amounts paid £

Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007

restated
£ £ £ £

Trade receivables 4,001,439 - 6,128,254 -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - 4,358,918 - 7,110,981
Other receivables 447,426 - 964,151 -
Prepayments and accrued income 626,094 - 1,018,412 -

5,074,959 4,358,918 8,110,817 7,110,981

Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and generally on industry terms of 90 days. Trade receivables include
amounts recoverable from advisers in respect of the clawback of indemnity commission and complaints; other 
receivables include amounts recoverable from insurers in respect of the complaints provision (note 18). As at 
31 December 2008 the provision for impairment against trade receivables was £283,273 increased by the charge to
the Income Statement from the brought forward balance of £149,351 (2007 brought forward £133,922). Amounts owed 
by Group undertakings in the Company’s balance sheet are stated net of an impairment provision of £4,324,624 
(2007: £5,701,464).

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

2008 4,001,439 1,169,685 1,314,429 808,336 273,804 158,410 276,775
2007 (restated) 6,128,254 1,645,166 2,414,325 817,815 555,445 438,152 257,351

Past due but not impaired
Total Future Neither 30 days 60 days 90 days >90 days

due due nor
impaired

£ £ £ £ £ £ £
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16. CASH AND SHORT TERM DEPOSITS

Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007

£ £ £ £

Short-term deposits 2,551,137 - 8,770,789 -
Cash at bank and in hand 9,737,416 - 182,995 -

12,288,553 - 8,953,784 -

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varying periods of between one week and one month depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is £12,288,553
(2007: £8,953,784).

Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007

restated
£ £ £ £

Trade payables 6,292,336 - 8,078,215 -
Other taxation and social security 428,102 - 443,618 -
Other payables 176,511 - 1,653 -
Accruals and deferred income 1,269,669 - 1,073,684 -
Corporation tax 6,794 - -

8,173,412 - 9,597,170 -

Included within other payables is an amount of £12,718 (2007: £11,594) in respect of unpaid pension contributions.
The terms and conditions for payment of the above trade and other payables are as follows:
• Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are normally settled on receipt of funds from product providers, or

within 30 days in respect of overheads. Other taxation and social security are non interest-bearing and have an
average term of one month.

• Accruals and deferred income are non interest-bearing and are settled according to their specific circumstances.
• Corporation tax liabilities are paid in quarterly instalments commencing halfway through the accounting period in

which they arise in those subsidiaries which currently pay corporation tax.

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Non-current Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007

£ £ £ £

Other financial liabilities - trade facility (secured) 4,500,000 - - -

4,500,000 - - -
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The trade facility was obtained from a UK financial institution and was fully utilised in defraying the cash consideration and
related expenses and re-organisation costs arising on the business combination with Sumus Limited (see note 14). It is
secured solely on monies held within a specific bank account operated by the Group and the balance on that account as
at 31 December 2008 was £nil. The facility is repayable in five semi-annual instalments commencing in May 2010 and the
outstanding balance attracts interest at 1% per annum above the LIBOR rate, payable quarterly in arrears. The trade facility
therefore matures as follows:
In one to two years £1,800,000
In two to five years £2,700,000
There are no other covenants or other security arrangements applicable to the facility.

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, motor vehicles and items of equipment. These
leases have an average duration of between three and six years. Only the property lease agreements contain an option
for renewal, and no restrictions are placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company Group Company
2008 2008 2007 2007

£ £ £ £

Future minimum payments due:
Not later than one year 463,829 - 340,878 -
After one year but not more than five years 574,726 - 430,871 -
After five years - - - -

1,038,555 - 771,749 -

18. PROVISIONS

GROUP Provisions for Complaints Total
clawback of provision

indemnity
commission

£ £ £

At 1 January 2008
Current 2,094,290 176,767 2,271,057
Non-current 556,710 626,722 1,183,432

2,651,000 803,489 3,454,489

Acquired with Sumus Limited 350,374 450,000 800,374
Charged/(released) to the Income Statement 1,888,375 (478,221) 1,410,154
Utilised during the year (2,673,597) (253,373) (2,926,970)

At 31 December 2008 2,216,152 521,895 2,738,047

Analysed as:
Current 1,750,714 114,817 1,865,531
Non-current 465,438 407,078 872,516

2,216,152 521,895 2,738,047
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Provision for clawback of indemnity commission
The provision for clawback of indemnity commission represents the expected cost of clawbacks from product
providers for subsequent policy cancellations and mid-term adjustments in respect of policies written at 31 December
2008. The amount represents the gross obligation and, where these amounts can be recovered from network members
an asset is recognised. At 31 December 2008, the gross amount recognised was £1,647,985 (2007: £2,450,266). 

Complaints provision
The complaints provision represents the expected cost of settling claims from clients and the amount represents the
gross obligation and where these amounts can be recovered from network members and insurers an asset is
recognised. At 31 December 2008, the amount recognised within trade and other debtors was £133,139 (2007: £769,092). 

Provision for impairment in the value of subsidiary undertakings at 1 January 2008 871,230
Released to income statement in year (871,230)

Provision for impairment in the value of subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2008 -

COMPANY £

A provision is made against subsidiary undertakings where the net asset value of that subsidiary is negative at the
balance sheet date. Provision is made firstly against the cost of the investment in the subsidiary, and then against the
amount due from that group undertaking if applicable. Where the negative net asset values exceed the combined cost
of investment and any amount due from the subsidiary undertaking a further provision is made in the balance sheet to
the extent that a future outflow of benefits is anticipated.

19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments comprise an available-for sale investment, cash, receivables and payables. The
Group and the Company have financed their operations principally from equity share issues and operational cash flows. 

Credit risk

The Group trades only with established third party financial institutions. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The maximum exposure
is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 15.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise an available-for-sale
asset, cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the possibility of default of the
relevant regulated financial institution or authorised deposit taker, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments. The Group monitors such risks by reviewing the length and disposition of its deposits on
a regular basis.

The Company does not trade and hence has no credit risk.

Concentration risk

This is the risk that material loss might arise from an excessive placing of the Group’s financial resources with a
counter party that might subsequently default, resulting in loss to the Group.
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Increase/decrease Effect on Effect on
in interest profit before equity

rates tax
£ £ £

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2008 +1% 106,212 106,212
-1% (106,212) (106,212)

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2007 +1% 79,000 79,000
-1% (78,537) (78,537)

In order to manage this risk, the Group reviews the level of business undertaken with its institutional counter-parties on
a regular basis with periodic reports being submitted to senior management and the Board.

The Company does not undertake transactions with such counter parties and hence has no concentration risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group also has a non-derivative financial instrument, being a secured trade facility, on which interest accrues at
the interbank lending rate plus 1%. The amount outstanding in respect of this instrument is significantly less than the
monies the Group has on deposit with UK clearing financial institutions and as the interest rate varies with LIBOR any
fluctuations in such costs should be adequately covered by finance income from its cash deposits. 

With regard to finance revenue the Group had significant cash balances throughout the year and as at 31 December
2008. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.  

The Company has no interest bearing financial assets or liabilities and hence has no interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity risk is that it would not have sufficient financial resources, even whilst solvent, to enable it to pay
its obligations as they fall due or only at excessive cost. The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring that 
commissions payable to advisers are not remitted until funds have been received by the Group, and by monthly
treasury management where projected cash flow requirements are monitored and reviewed. In addition, the Group
retains sufficient working capital and ready cash balances o ensure that its requirements are met on a day-to-day
basis. The Company does not trade and therefore has no liquidity risk.

The table opposite summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2008 based on
contractual undiscounted payments.
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Year ended 31 December 2008
Trade and other payables 6,148,474 143,861 - 4,500,000 - 10,792,335
Other financial liabilities 1,404,595 324,564 151,918 - - 1,881,077

7,553,069 468,425 151,918 4,500,000 - 12,673,412

Year ended 31 December 2007
As restated
Trade and other payables 7,856,853 221,362 - - - 8,078,215
Other financial liabilities 415,450 758,633 344,872 - - 1,518,955

8,272,303 979,995 344,872 - - 9,597,170

On demand Less than 3 to 12 1 to 5 Greater Total
3 month months years than 5 years

£ £ £ £ £

Market price risk

The Group’s income is directly aligned to the external economic conditions in the markets in which it operates, namely
the distribution of retail financial products in the UK. Lower market returns may reduce investors’ appetite for investment
products, and reduce the income derived from funds-based products. In order to manage this risk the Group reviews
the spread of its income and average adviser production on a regular basis, enabling it to take corrective action 
to mitigate the impact of such market variations. The Company does not have any income except for dividends 
receivable from subsidiary undertakings.

Fair value of financial instruments

There is no significant difference between the book values and fair values of the financial assets and liabilities and the
latter are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that no such exposure arises or, if it does, to enable the Group and the
Company to take action to mitigate or eliminate any such potential loss.

Borrowing facilities

Neither the Company nor the Group had any undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 December 2008
(2007: £nil).

Currency risk

Neither the Company nor the Group is exposed to currency risk as it does not trade in foreign currencies.

Capital management 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management policy is to ensure that it maintains a credit rating and strong
regulatory and group capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group has
financed its operations principally from equity shares. It manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
the light of changes in economic conditions. The Board regularly monitors the position based on regular management
information. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes in the year.

Treasury management 

The most significant treasury matters dealt with by the group are raising finance and investing surplus cash in high quality
assets. Clear parameters have been established, including authority levels, on the type and use of financial instruments
to manage these exposures, which at present do not permit the use of any derivatives or hedges. Regular reports are
provided to senior management and treasury operations are subject to periodic independent reviews by the Board.
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Number Number Number Number Date Number Exercise Exercise
of share of share of share of share of of share price period
options options options options grant options (p)

at 31 granted in exercised lapsed in at 31
December the year in the year the year December

2007 2008

15,625 - - (15,625) - 160.0 27/10/03 and 26/10/10
161,540 - - - 161,540 32.5 23/01/06 and 22/01/13
95,238 - - (95,238) - 21.0 10/07/09 and 09/07/16

4,817,464 - - (629,884) 4,187,580 24.0 23/10/10 and 22/10/17
- 2,887,848 - - 12/05/08 2,887,848 21.5 12/05/11 and 11/05/18

5,089,867 2,887,848 - (740,747) 7,236,968

Under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2008
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20. AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised share capital of the Company was increased on 14 April 2008 to 200,000,000 ordinary shares of 
1p each by the creation of 80,000,000 new ordinary shares of 1p each.

On 6 May 2008 43,960,446 new ordinary shares of 1p each were issued, fully paid, in part satisfaction of the 
consideration payable for the acquisition, by way of a merger, of Sumus Limited. The shares were issued at a fair value
of 21p per share and, as Section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 does not permit such excess to be credited to a
share premium account in circumstances where a share for share exchange has occurred, the directors have exercised
their discretion under Section 133 of the Companies Act 1985 to credit the excess of the fair value of shares issued
over their nominal value, net of the related costs of issue, to a merger reserve.

In addition during the year 102,014 new ordinary shares of 1p each were issued at par, for cash, pursuant to the
exercise of certain share options.

2008 2007
Number £ Number £

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 1p each

At 31 December 200,000,000 2,000,000 120,000,000 1,200,000

Allotted issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 1p each
At 1 January 83,637,838 836,377 75,266,983 752,669
Issued on 6 May 2008 to acquire Sumus Ltd (note 14) 43,960,446 439,605 - -
Issued on 2 April 2007 to acquire customer relationships
from Liverpool Victoria Financial Advice Services Ltd. - - 4,172,672 41,727
Issued on 2 April 2007 for cash raising £1,045,259 - - 4,181,034 41,810
Options exercised during the year at 23.5p - - 10,256 102
Options exercised during the year at 1p 102,014 1,021 6,893 69

127,700,298 1,277,003 83,637,838 836,377
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Number Number Number Number Date Number Exercise Exercise
of share of share of share of share of of share price period
options options options options grant options (p)

at 31 granted in exercised lapsed in at 31
December the year in the year the year December

2007 2008

318,343 - (8,201) - 310,142 1.0 30/09/04 and 30/12/14
107,582        - (93,813) - 13,769 1.0 17/08/04 and 16/08/14

425,925 - (102,014) 323,911

Under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme for advisers the following options were held at 31 December 2008

Number Number Number Number Date Number Exercise Exercise
of share of share of share of share of of share price period
options options options options grant options (p)
at 31 granted in exercised lapsed in at 31

December the year in the year the year December
2006 2007

325,236 - (6,893) - 318,343 1.0 30/09/04 and 30/12/14
107,582        - - - 107,582 1.0 17/08/04 and 16/08/14
100,000 - - (100,000) - 22.0 06/05/07 and 30/09/14

532,818 - (6,893) (100,000) 425,925

Under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme for advisers the following options were held at 31 December 2007
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 (continued)

Number Number Number Number Date Number Exercise Exercise
of share of share of share of share of of share price period
options options options options grant options (p)
at 31 granted in exercised lapsed in at 31

December the year in the year the year December
2006 2007

15,625 - - - 15,625 160.0 27/10/03 and 26/10/10
161,540 - - - 161,540 32.5 23/01/06 and 22/01/13
95,238 - - - 95,238 21.0 10/07/09 and 09/07/16

- 4,817,464 - - 23/10/07 4,817,464 24.0 23/10/10 and 22/10/17

272,403 4,817,464 - - 5,089,867

Under the Company’s Unapproved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2007
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Number Number Number Number Date Number Exercise Exercise
of share of share of share of share of of share price period
options options options options grant options (p)
at 31 granted in exercised lapsed in at 31

December the year in the year the year December
2006 2007

3,200 - - - 3,200 162.0 06/04/04 and 05/04/11
394,870 - - (10,256) 384,614 32.5 23/01/06 and 22/01/13
35,898         (10,256) (10,256) 15,386 23.5 01/05/06 and 30/04/13

100,000        - - (100,000) - 28.0 31/12/03 and 02/01/07
35,897 - - - 35,897 25.0 15/08/06 and 14/08/13
15,385 - - - 15,385 26.5 04/02/07 and 03/02/14
51,281 - - - 51,281 19.0 13/12/07 and 12/12/14
50,000 - - - 50,000 20.0 01/05/08 and 30/04/15

142,857 - - - 142,857 21.0 10/07/09 and 09/07/16
697,292 - - (235,133) 462,159 18.5 25/04/09 and 24/04/16
230,768 - - - 230,768 21.0 15/03/09 and 14/03/16

- 158,500 - (18,500) 06/03/07 140,000 20.0 06/03/10 and 05/03/17
- 65,000 - - 27/07/07 65,000 29.0 27/07/10 and 26/07/17
- 684,871 - - 23/10/07 684,871 24.0 23/10/10 and 22/10/17

1,757,448 908,371 (10,256) (374,145) 2,281,418

Under the Company’s Approved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2007

Number Number Number Number Date Number Exercise Exercise
of share of share of share of share of of share price period
options options options options grant options (p)

at 31 granted in exercised lapsed in at 31
December the year in the year the year December

2007 2008

3,200 - - - 3,200 162.0 06/04/04 and 05/04/11
384,614 - - (15,385) 369,229 32.5 23/01/06 and 22/01/13
15,386 - - - 15,386 23.5 01/05/06 and 30/04/13
35,897 - - - 35,897 25.0 15/08/06 and 14/08/13
15,385 - - - 15,385 26.5 04/02/07 and 03/02/14
51,281 - - (5,128) 46,153 19.0 13/12/07 and 12/12/14
50,000 - - - 50,000 20.0 01/05/08 and 30/04/15

142,857 - - - 142,857 21.0 10/07/09 and 09/07/16
462,159 - - (145,944) 316,215 18.5 25/04/09 and 24/04/16
230,768 - - (10,256) 220,512 21.0 15/03/09 and 14/03/16
25,000 - - - 25,000 21.0 01/06/09 and 31/05/16

140,000 - - (39,000) 101,000 20.0 06/03/10 and  05/03/17
65,000 - - - 65,000 29.0 27/07/10 and 26/07/17

684,871 - - (10,256) 674,615 24.0 23/10/10 and 22/10/17
- 50,000 - - 31/03/08 50,000 22.5 31/03/11 and 30/03/18
- 574,036 - (24,184) 12/05/08 549,852 21.5 12/05/11 and 11/05/18

2,306,418 624,036 - (250,153) 2,680,301

Under the Company’s Approved Share Option Scheme the following options were held at 31 December 2008
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21. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

(a) There are three share option schemes currently operated by the Group. These are as follows:

The approved scheme for employees

This plan is open to all employees once they have been in service for a length of time as from time to time agreed
by the Board. The options will vest if the employee remains in service for a period of three years from the date of
the option was granted. The exercise price of the option is the prevailing market price at the date of grant. The
contractual life of the option is ten years and there are no cash settlement alternatives. There are no performance
conditions attached and the options lapse should the employee leave.

The unapproved scheme for advisers

This plan exists in order to provide incentives to some advisers, notably on acquisitions, and to align adviser
expectations to that of shareholders. Grant of options is at the discretion of the Board. The vesting period ranges
from immediate to 21 months and is dependent on the adviser being regulated through the Group at the time of
exercise. The contractual life of the options range from 18 months to 10 years and the options lapse should the
adviser cease to be registered through Lighthouse. There are no performance conditions attached.

The unapproved scheme for employees

The terms for this plan are identical to the approved scheme for employees; the scheme exists for those employees
who are granted options in excess of the H M Revenue and Customs limits.

(b) The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in,
share options during the year.

2008 2008 2007 2007
number WAEP number WAEP

(pence) (pence)

Outstanding at 1 January 7,822,210 23.00 2,562,669 20.84
Granted during the year 3,511,884 21.50 5,750,835 24.00
Forfeited during the year (990,900) 26.01 (374,145) 20.00
Exercised (102,014) 1.00 (17,149) 14.00
Expired during the year - - (100,000) 28.00

Outstanding at 31 December 10,241,180 22.57 7,822,210 23.00

Exercisable 31 December 1,027,594 21.06 1,108,853 21.00

Included within the opening balance are options over 18,825 (2007:18,825) shares that have not been recognised in
accordance with IFRS 2 as the options were granted before 7 November 2002. These options have not
subsequently been modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2.

The weighted average share price of the options exercised in the year at the date of exercise is 23.27 pence 
(2007: 28.00 pence). For the share options outstanding at 31 December 2008, the weighted average remaining
contractual life is 8.5 years (2007: 9.04 years). The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year
was 21.50 pence (2007: 24.00 pence). The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 31 December 2008
and 2007 was 1 pence to 162 pence.
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(c) During 2006, an appointment on revocable sub-trusts of 8,125,000 shares was made from the EBT (the Lighthouse
Independent Financial Advisers Limited Remuneration Trust). The charge arising under IFRS 2 was recognised in
full in the year based upon the share price as at the date of appointment.

(d) Expense charged to the Income Statement.
The total expense recognised for the year arising from equity compensation plans was as follows:

Fair value of options 176,915 57,802

176,915 57,802

2008 2007
£ £

(e) Fair value of options granted during the year.
The fair value of options granted during the year, estimated by using a binomial option pricing model was £0.096
(2007 £0.112). The fair value of options was estimated on the date of grant, based upon the following weighted
average assumptions:

Share price 21.5p 24.0p
Exercise price 21.5p 24.0p
Expected volatility 30% 30%
Historical volatility 30% 30%
Expected life 8 years 8 years
Risk-free interest rate 4.55% 4.55%

2008 2007
£ £

22. RESERVES

The Group has an investment in its own shares amounting to £nil (2007: £nil) in respect of shares held by Nautilus
Trust Company (Jersey) Limited as Trustee to the EBT (the Lighthouse Independent Financial Advisers Limited
Remuneration Trust). The EBT holds 8,479,646 (2007: 8,125,000) ordinary shares in the Company which represent
8,125,000 shares acquired for £nil consideration from the founding members and directors of the Company prior to its
flotation in October 2000, together with the re-investment by the Trustee of dividends subsequently received by the
EBT in 354,646 of the ordinary shares of the Company. The Trustee is guided by the wishes of the remuneration
committee of the Board regarding eligibility for receipt of discretionary benefits under the EBT. These include
exceptional performance, teamwork, loyalty, length of service and other significant contributions to the overall 
development and success of the Group. The market value of the shares held by the trust at 31 December 2008 was
£890,363 (2007: £1,990,625). The shares were provisionally appointed on revocable sub-trusts in 2006.

On 7 September 2007 the High Court approved a petition to allow the offset of losses of the Parent Company against the
share premium account of the Company. Accordingly the share premium account was reduced by £9,900,626 to offset the
accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 December 2006. The share premium account was further reduced by an
amount of £1,999,374 by transfer to a special reserve to be used to offset losses arising in the Company in that year,
excluding dividends from subsidiary companies paid in the year, of £1,909,010 with the balance of £90,364 to be held as
an non-distributable reserve. 

The expected volatility used was based upon the historical volatility of the share price over a period equivalent to the
expected life of the options prior to the date of the grant. 
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23. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT

The prior year adjustment arose as a result of misstatements in the accounting for the trading of Carrwood Barker
Holdings Limited following its acquisition by the Group in December 2005. The misstatements arose prior to and
during the migration of its customer and commissions data in August 2006 onto a new commissions system operated
by the Group. The misstatements were of a one off and non-recurring nature and impacted only reported results for
periods prior to 1 January 2007. The net effect was to overstate the cumulative retained earnings and total equity
attributable to the equity holders of the Group by £1,468,364 as at 1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007 and to
overstate trade and other receivables and total assets by £161,159 and understate trade and other payables and
current and total liabilities by £1,307,205 as at those dates. There was no effect on the results or financial position of
the Company as previously reported or the Group’s previously reported cash flows. 

24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Capital commitments

The Group and the Company had no capital commitments as at 31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007.

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group made payments of £18,340 (2007: £3,902) to Nautilus Trust
(Jersey) Limited, holders of the 8,479,646 shares in the Employee Benefit Trust, in respect of their services as trustees
of the Lighthouse Independent Financial Advisers Limited Remuneration Trust.

During the year, the Group paid property rents totalling £67,267 (2007: £nil) to Capitecs Limited, a company under the
control of A Rosengren, who is a director of the Company, and J P Telling who are both directors of Capitecs Limited.
At 31 December 2008 the amount due to Capitecs Limited was £nil (2007: £nil). In addition during the year the Group
paid property rents totalling £13,333 (2007: £nil) in respect of a property occupied by a subsidiary company and
owned by a consortium in which Capitecs Limited holds a one third interest. As already noted, Capitecs Limited is
under the control of Allan Rosengren, who is a director of the company, and J P Telling who are both directors of
Capitecs Limited.

Other than the above, there have been no transactions with key management personnel except as disclosed in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The Company received dividends totalling £700,000 (2007: £500,000) during the year from LighthouseXpress Limited,
its wholly owned subsidiary undertaking. Other than those dividends the Company did not undertake any transactions
with any related parties (2007: none).

26. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 12 January 2009 the Group facilitated the transfer en bloc to LighthouseGP Limited (formerly LighthousePersonal
Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, of 45 Independent Financial Advisers formerly authorised by
Godfrey Pearson Limited on both self-employed and employed terms. In return, the Group has agreed to guarantee
payments to be made by Graduate Financial Services Limited, the ultimate parent company of Godfrey Pearson
Limited, over a three year period in respect of a loan from Lloyds Banking Group Plc up to a maximum of £433,260,
including future interest payable.
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